

Review of stromwater science

Publication 1919 | October 2020





Please consider the environment before printing this file. If printing is needed, please recycle when you're finished.

Authorised and published by the Victorian Government, 1 Treasury Place, Melbourne



Review of stormwater science

Ewert, J., O'Halloran, D., Lintern, A., Weber, T. and McCarthy, D.



Australian Government Department of Industry, Innovation and Science

Business Cooperative Research Centres Programme

Review of stormwater science

Project: P118279_V02_R02_EPA Stormwater Review

Authors

Jamie Ewert, Dan O'Halloran, Anna Lintern, Tony Weber, David McCarthy

Produced for EPA Victoria in collaboration with Alluvium Consulting and Monash Engineering.

© 2018 Cooperative Research Centre for Water Sensitive Cities Ltd.

This work is copyright. Apart from any use permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, no part of it may be reproduced by any process without written permission from the publisher. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction rights should be directed to the publisher.

Publisher

Cooperative Research Centre for Water Sensitive Cities Level 1, 8 Scenic Blvd, Clayton Campus Monash University Clayton, VIC 3800

p. +61 3 9902 4985e. admin@crcwsc.org.auw. www.watersensitivecities.org.au

Date of publication: September 2018

An appropriate citation for this document is:

Ewert, J., O'Halloran, D., Lintern, A., Weber, T and McCarthy, D., 2018, Review of stormwater science, Melbourne, Australia: Cooperative Research Centre for Water Sensitive Cities

Disclaimer

The CRC for Water Sensitive Cities has endeavoured to ensure that all information in this publication is correct. It makes no warranty with regard to the accuracy of the information provided and will not be liable if the information is inaccurate, incomplete or out of date nor be liable for any direct or indirect damages arising from its use. The contents of this publication should not be used as a substitute for seeking independent professional advice.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary4
Introduction6
Background6
Scope of the literature review8
Objectives
Research Topics9
Foundation documents10
State Environment Protection Policy (Water of Victoria) (EPA, 2003)10
Values17
Discussion
Place-based objectives19
What do 'place-based' objectives look like and how can they be applied?19
Flow
What flow and geomorphology metrics (and targets) are important for receiving environment health?21
Stormwater quality
Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products (PPCPs)26
Pesticides/herbicides/insecticides/fungicides27
Stormwater management effectiveness
Climate change and WSUD
References

Executive Summary

Since the introduction of the Urban Stormwater Best Practice Environmental Management (BPEM) Guidelines in 1999, the scientific community's understanding of the science of stormwater has grown with the understanding of what the community values about our waterways and bays. In 2013/14 DesignFlow undertook a review of BPEM, taking into account supporting science and modelling to recommend updated BPEM pollution reduction targets for total nitrogen (TN), total phosphorus (TP), total suspended solids (TSS), litter and flow.

The Victorian Government has recently made a series of commitments to improve stormwater management which includes both reviewing the coverage of the Victoria Planning Provisions and updating the BPEM guidelines. This review looks at the science undertaken since 2013/14 to understand how that could influence future policy and regulation in relation to stormwater management.

The table below summarises the research topics for this review, what the current approach is and whether recent science confirms or changes about that approach and knowledge gaps.

Research topic	Summary
Waterway values and place-based objectives	In 2013 the Healthy Waterways Strategy (Melbourne Water, 2013) defined objectives for waterway values including Birds, Fish, Frogs, Macroinvertebrates, Platypus, Vegetation and Amenity.
	The values identified within the Draft Healthy Waterways Strategy (2018) have grown to include "Community Connection" and "Recreation" recognising the better understanding and appreciation of the social values of waterways. This is consistent with other notable waterway values strategies, including Healthy Land and Water, 2017, 2018b, 2018a) in South East Queensland.
Place based objectives	Social, ecological and economic values are location specific and require tailored responses to ensure their values are protected. The Draft Healthy Waterways Strategy (2018) sets place-based objectives for waterway values as well as location specific targets for stormwater harvesting and infiltration. In this sense there is a general appreciation that place based objectives represent an improved ideal approach, compared with uniform targets.
	Further, Action 5.5 of the Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning's Water for Victoria document (2016) that includes Action 5.5. to "Improve stormwater management for greener environments" by "leading the development of local place-based targets for stormwater management".
	The review of the literature identifies local and international examples where scientific approaches have led to the successful protection of individual values. There is however greater complexity associated with the development of objectives and targets for the protection of multiple values. A lack of data is also identified as a potential barrier to objective setting in some cases.

	The flow related regulation within the BPEM is to maintain discharges for the 1.5-
Flow	year ARI at pre-development levels. Flow is a critical threat to urban waterway values and evidence to support this continues to grow. There are numerous indicators that can reflect the impact of flow, with 'total annual runoff volume' identified as being a functional indicator, given its correlation with stream health.
	Protecting or restoring values in an urbanised catchment may require something in the order of 50-90% reduction in total annual runoff volume., with stormwater harvesting, reuse and infiltration a key contributor to reaching such a target. There is limited information on whether lesser percentage reductions are suitable where protecting pre-development values is not the objective.
Quality	The literature since the previous review of BPEM suggests that TSS, TP, TN and gross pollutants are important pollutants to remove from urban stormwater, both for protecting the health of receiving waters, and for protecting public health.
	As well as the annual load, the timing of loads, seasonality of loads and concentrations of pollutants are also important factors and the removal of TSS, TP and TN. The removal of TSS has also been associated with the remove other stormwater contaminants (e.g. heavy metals), however the results of this relationship are variable across sites and conditions.
	Gaps in understanding include a clear assessment of the impact of the current BPEM targets on waterway and public health while noting that monitoring capability continues to improve opening up opportunities to better understand the relationship between stormwater quality and waterway values.
Stormwater management objectives and the performance of urban stormwater treatment measures	Performance data for WSUD assets like biofilters and wetlands has grown since 2013 but remains variable. Biofiltration performance in terms of concentration reduction is variable, with load reductions often driven through volumes loss. Constructed stormwater treatment wetlands also exhibit variable reductions in concentrations of TN and TP with sedimentation highlighted as an important element of the treatment process.
	The performance of WSUD systems within smaller catchments is relatively well researched, however there is a gap in understanding regarding the performance of WSUD when applied at the catchment scale. The Little Stringybark Creek project continues to provide valuable data to this point. It is encouraging that the condition, performance and aesthetic of WSUD assets has improved since 2014.
	Integrated water management, through stormwater harvesting and infiltration and rainwater tanks, are increasingly recognised avenues to the reduction of pollutant loads going to Port Phillip Bay and the restoration of a more natural catchment hydrology.
	Climate change will influence catchment behaviour and therefore the design and performance of WSUD. There has been a significant shift in the rainfall-runoff relationship in catchments after extended periods of drought, with implications for catchment modelling approaches. In terms of stormwater quality climate change will result in an increase in pollutant export from urban areas due to increased flow from larger events.
	Other management mechanisms include offsets. Melbourne Water has applied these primarily in relation to nitrogen, with the aim of applying stormwater management actions at least cost. Whilst there has been successful application, some research has identified potential shortcomings where offsets target pollutant loads at the catchment scale while not accounting for local waterway impacts and values.

Introduction

Victorians place significant value on their waterways and bays as places to recreate and relax. Waterways also offer some of the last wild environments within cities. In urban areas waterways and linear green corridors also provide opportunities to connect to nature, while providing habitat for fish, birds, platypus and macroinvertebrates. Indigenous Australians maintain cultural, spiritual and economic connections to waterways and for these reasons waterways deliver social, cultural, economic, and ecological value to all Victorians.

The urbanisation of Melbourne and other towns and centres across Victoria increases the impervious proportion of catchments. This is turn increases the volume of stormwater reaching our waterways and the pollutant loads it carries. The altered catchment also creates 'flashy' flows, with higher peak flow rates and velocities.

This change in urban hydrology has altered urban waterways and bays, affecting the values that today's community associate with them. Managing stormwater is therefore critical to improving the condition of waterways and bays and protecting the broad range of values that they provide.

Background

The Victorian community's appreciation of the impact of stormwater on receiving waterbodies is documented within the Port Phillip Bay Environmental Study (CSIRO, 1996). The results of the Port Phillip Bay Environmental Study were incorporated into the first Port Phillip Bay Environmental Management Plan. This landmark study quantified chemical and biological processes within the Bay, enabling practitioners to predict the impact of catchment changes on ecological function. The key outcome from that study was the need to reduce 1,000 tonnes of nitrogen from reaching Port Philip Bay per year, with half of this being achieved via upgrades to the Western Treatment Plant, the other half from in-catchment stormwater improvement works. Duncan (1999) provided a statistical overview of urban stormwater quality to provide an understanding of the 'broad scale behaviour of urban runoff quality, and its interactions with land use and other catchment characteristics'.

These investigations preceded the introduction of the BPEM which contained water quality and flow targets. Figure 1 below summarises the BPEM targets and the objectives associated with those targets. BPEM requirements are linked to urban planning through Clause 56.07 of the Victoria Planning Provisions gazetted in 2006. Clause 56.07 states that BPEM targets must be met within all new residential subdivisions of undeveloped lands. These statutory obligations are also referenced in the State Environment Protection Policy (Waters of Victoria) where the BPEM is an incorporated document to this instrument. Recent changes to the Victoria Planning Provisions also applied the BPEM requirements to apartment developments (Clauses 55.07 and 58.03).

Since the introduction of BPEM, the scientific community's understanding of the science of stormwater quality, flow and methods of treatment has grown, alongside the understanding of what the community values about our waterways and bays. In 2013 / 14 DesignFlow undertook a review of BPEM, including the supporting science and modelling, to recommend new BPEM targets.

The Victorian Government has recently made a series of commitments to improve stormwater management which includes both reviewing the coverage of the Victoria Planning Provisions and updating the BPEM.

This report aims to review science that has been undertaken since 2013/14 that could influence future policy and regulation in relation to stormwater management. The report builds on the work from 2013/14 with the outcomes used to inform the development of stormwater management options and a cost benefit analysis (undertaken in parallel with this project).

Pollutant	Receiving water objective:	Current best practice performance objective:		
Post construction phase:				
Suspended solids (SS)	comply with SEPP (e.g. not exceed the 90th percentile of 80 mg/L) (1)	80% retention of the typical urban annual load		
Total phosphorus (TP)	comply with SEPP (e.g. base flow concentration not to exceed 0.08 mg/L) (2)	45% retention of the typical urban annual load		
Total nitrogen (TN)	comply with SEPP (e.g. base flow concentration not to exceed 0.9 mg/ L) (2)	45% retention of the typical urban annual load		
Litter	comply with SEPP (e.g. No litter in waterways) (1)	70% reduction of typical urban annual load (3)		
Flows	Maintain flows at pre-urbanisation levels	Maintain discharges for the 1.5 year ARI at pre development levels		
Construction phase:				
Suspended solids	comply with SEPP	Effective treatment of 90% of daily run-off events (e.g. <4 months ARI). Effective treatment equates to a 50%ile SS concentration of 50 mg/L.		
Litter	comply with SEPP (e.g. No litter in waterways) (1)	Prevent litter from entering the stormwater system.		
Other pollutants	comply with SEPP	Limit the application, generation and migration of toxic substances to the maximum extent practicable		

Figure 1. BPEM Targets (CSIRO, 1999)

Scope of the literature review

This Review of Stormwater Science is a review of the scientific literature supporting the management of stormwater in Victoria focussing on scientific literature produced since 2013/14. This review refers to pre-2014 literature where supporting context is required.

The review focuses on the topics and questions summarised in the Research Topics section below. The outcomes of this report will support a science and policy review of the BPEM, including the metrics to measure stormwater impact, the land uses to which the BPEM applies and the suitability of our current approaches to ensuring that these impacts are managed to protect waterway values.

This review focuses on urban development and increases in catchment imperviousness as the primary and most threatening process. We acknowledge that many of the pollutants and parameters discussed here could also enter the stormwater system through poor industrial practice, leaking sewers or poor waste management. These 'point' sources are likely to require different management approaches, such as site management regulation, education and enforcement, which should be considered separately than an overall BPEM objective for development.

Objectives

The objectives of this technical report are to:

- Update and ensure currency of scientific knowledge around urban stormwater, including flows; pollutants, treatment measures for these pollutants; and the appropriateness of the stormwater management requirements in the current BPEM.
- Provide information that will inform the development of stormwater management tools and regulatory options to assist consultations with key government stakeholders.

In delivering these objectives this project has:

- Developed four research topics
- Reviewed relevant scientific documentation, focussing on outcomes produced since 2013/14, to address those questions
- Provided recommendations based on the outcomes of that scientific research.

Research Topics

Research topics were developed in consultation with EPA Victoria to guide the literature review. Each chapter of the report addresses one research topic. While there is naturally overlap between research topics, the document is structured to establish waterway and bay values and objectives, investigate our understanding of the impacts of stormwater (through the headings of flow and quality) before discussing the objectives of stormwater treatment assets and their measured performance.

Research topic	Guiding questions
Values and place-based objectives	What social, cultural, or environmental indicators best reflect our objectives in protecting receiving environments? What do 'place-based' objectives look like and how can they be applied?
Flow	What flow and geomorphology metrics (and targets) are important indicators for receiving environment health? What impact is climate change having on urban catchment hydrology and water quality and how might this influence our development of best practice targets?
Quality	Are the current targets proposed in the BPEM sufficient to protect waterway health and public health? Should additional water quality metrics be included within the BPEM and if so, what targets need to be set?
Stormwater management objectives and performance of urban stormwater management and treatment measures	How is WSUD being applied and how effectively is this contributing to achieving the BPEM objectives? How effective are WSUD measures at removing 'existing' and emerging pollutants? What impact does WSUD have on catchment hydrology (flow and peak flowrates)? How is WSUD affected by climate change? What other management options or approaches are open to EPA to meet their objectives?

Foundation documents

The project focuses on developments of the scientific understanding since 2013/14. The review begins by considering 'Foundation Documents', being the key documents that underpinned the 2013/14 review. The aim of reviewing these documents is to understand the basis upon which the previous review was based. These documents are:

- State Environment Protection Policy (SEPP) Waters (DELWP, 2018) and the corresponding Policy Impact Assessment (DELWP, 2017a)
- Urban Stormwater BPEM Standards Paper (Design Flow, 2013b, 2013a, 2014)
- Management of the ecological impacts of urban land and activities on waterways (Urrutiaguer et al., 2016)
- Stormwater knowledge synthesis report (EPA, 2017)
- Healthy waterways strategy draft (Melbourne Water, 2018).

State Environment Protection Policy (Water of Victoria) (EPA, 2003)

The State Environment Protection Policy (SEPP) sets a 'statutory framework for the protection of the uses and values of Victoria's fresh and marine water environments. With regard to relevance for this literature review, the SEPP defines the uses and values of Victoria's waters. Associated environmental quality indicators and objectives assist in providing an understanding as to when those values are being protected and to provide a guide as to what is required to protect them. Uses and values are collectively referred to as 'beneficial uses' that include:

- Aquatic ecosystems
- Water based recreation
- Cultural and spiritual values
- Water for agriculture and irrigation
- Water for aquaculture
- Water for industrial and commercial use
- Water for human consumption
- Agriculture and irrigation
- Fish, crustacea & molluscs for human consumption.

Indicators adopted to gauge the protection of beneficial uses within rivers and streams include nutrients (phosphorus and nitrogen), turbidity, salinity, pH, dissolved oxygen, toxicants (in water and sediments) and biological indicators.

Urban Stormwater BPEM Standards Paper (Design Flow, 2013b, 2013a, 2014)

The aim of these papers was to develop suitable environmental stormwater discharge standards for Victoria across two phases of work:

- Phase A: Identifying (selecting) metrics that were important for waterway health and that had sufficient and clear data to understand how treatment trains perform against those metrics, and
- Phase B: Determining numeric targets for each metric taking into account performance, cost, liveability and administrative requirements.

The outcome of the analysis was a recommendation for modified pollution reduction targets for total suspended solids (85%), total phosphorus (50%) and total nitrogen (50%).

In addition, a flow reduction target of 25% of mean annual runoff (via means such as harvesting, infiltration and / or evapotranspiration) was proposed, with accompanying baseflow contribution and stream stability targets. There were also construction phase targets including sediment removal via 'sediment retention systems'. It was recommended that these targets be applied to all land uses. Other pollutants were considered however targets were not recommended for these for the following reasons:

- *Heavy metals (lead, copper and zinc)*: no targets because estimated reductions in metals are correlated with reductions in total nitrogen loads
- *E.Coli*: there was "no defendable method for estimating E.Coli concentrations in Victorian baseflow" and "no defendable method for estimating E.Coli reduction in wetlands".
- *Litter*: A standard was not proposed as it was argued that litter would be removed while meeting the new standards for other (finer) pollutants.

The analysis then identified treatment trains and costs to meet proposed targets. Cost curves illustrated points of diminishing return that balanced pollution reduction targets against cost. It was estimated that meeting the targets in a greenfield residential development would cost approximately \$4,000/lot.

An addendum to the Urban Stormwater BPEM Standards Paper was released in September of 2013 that summarised the outcomes of a 'Technical Reference Committee' workshop. This 'Phase C' work examined:

- the maximum practical total runoff volume reduction that can be achieved for typical scenarios
- to identify the most suitable baseflow contribution standard
- to resolve whether to include numerical standards for metal and E.coli, and
- to resolve the most suitable stream stability standard.

Key outcomes from this addendum included:

- The link between metals and other pollutants was reaffirmed.
- A 'two tier' flow regime standard was proposed to better protect intact, high value waterways. This in turn requires classification of waterway condition, with some parameters suggested.
- A baseflow contribution of 10% of mean annual rainfall was recommended.
- Two flow regime reductions were also recommended with 25% reduction found to be achievable in urbanised areas. A 60% reduction was assessed as being the highest removal percentage feasible in typical development scenarios in Melbourne.
- Stream erosion index (SEI) was found to be a suitable metric for stream stability.

The cost of meeting these requirements was also assessed concluding that 'the cost of meeting the new standards is considerably higher than the cost of meeting the existing ones'.

Management of the ecological impacts of urban land and activities on waterways (Urrutiaguer et al., 2016)

Urrutiaguer et al., (2016) provided a summary of current and emerging science on the impacts of urbanisation on waterways and on the mitigation of these impacts. The outcomes of that review are briefly summarised below.

Urban pressures: Urbanisation imposes a range of pressures on waterways through stormwater, wastewater, extractions amongst other things. Under natural conditions, approximately 80-95% of the rain that falls in the Melbourne region is evapotranspired back to the atmosphere, never reaching a waterway. Urban stormwater that is drained to waterways is identified as the dominant urban pressure on waterways and the key limiting factor to good ecological condition (Fletcher, et al., 2011). Degradation of waterways can occur at very low levels of urbanisation with studies suggesting it takes a very small percentage (about 2%) of directly connected imperviousness (DCI) to cause severe degradation of stream condition (Walsh, et al., 2005; Walsh & Kunapo, 2009; Walsh & Webb, 2016).

Understanding waterway systems: Assessing waterway condition and establishing what 'healthy' and 'degraded' means is central to the understanding of waterway impacts. Macroinvertebrate assemblage composition indices such as SIGNAL (for the Melbourne region) are noted as providing good integrative measure of waterway condition. DCI is the strongest predictive model of SIGNAL (Burns et al., 2015).

Mitigating the impacts of urbanisation: Stormwater was seen to be the limiting factor to river health in urban areas noting that 'waterways cannot be in good ecological condition where significant urban stormwater inputs are permitted to occur (Fletcher, et al., 2011'). Protecting waterways from degradation (due to urbanisation) will require removing 'almost all of the additional stormwater runoff created through urbanisation'. It is assumed this means retaining pre-European values.

It was also noted that urbanisation introduces pressures other than stormwater including piping of ephemeral and small streams, removal of riparian vegetation; sediment from building activities; and treated or diluted wastewater discharges.

Stormwater Knowledge Synthesis Report (EPA, 2014)

EPA produced a document to 'collate and analyse the current available knowledge on urban stormwater in Victoria'. The document refers to stakeholder perceptions and scientific literature to summarise the key impacts on waterway health. While the key outcomes are referenced in the literature review below, the paper highlights some knowledge gaps including:

- 1. Land Use Type and Stormwater Pollution: There is an inadequate understanding of the relative contribution of different land use types on the pollution of urban stormwater
- Better Mapping of Water Quality Data and Industry / Traffic: A gap was identified in the use of GIS analysis to understand the relationship between water quality (including heavy metals) and levels of traffic and presence of industry.
- 3. **Refinement of our Understanding of Impacted Areas and Key Contaminants**: this gap seems to refer specifically to sediment, and the use of sediment monitoring sites to draw a link between contaminants and impacted sites (i.e. waterways).
- 4. **Understanding Risk in Rural Victoria**: This gap is broadly stated as the need to better understand the risk to waterways of stormwater in rural Victoria.
- 5. Understanding the sources and risks of high levels of bacterial contamination at the Bay beaches and lower Yarra River: there is limited information on the source of bacteria that enters Melbourne's beaches and bays after rain, noting that 'human faecal indicators in the lower Yarra implicates leakage or discharges from the sewerage system'.
- 6. Use of SEPP and other Policy instruments to control stormwater impacts: This gap highlights the need to adequately or better address contaminants of concern (including heavy metals, hydrocarbons and pathogens), changes in hydrology (or flow) and the impact of construction sites.
- 7. **Relative amounts of contaminants arising from various sources**: While we broadly understand the source of contaminants, there are gaps in understanding around the specific pollutant contribution of certain activities and land uses, as well as their behavior and fate.
- 8. Effectiveness of current techniques or WSUD and ways of dealing with urban stormwater: there is a gap in our understanding of the effectiveness of WSUD and the ability of WSUD practices to 'preserve or restore the ecological health of an urban waterway'.

Improving Stormwater Management Advisory Committee (DEWLP, 2018)

In 2018 the Victorian Government convened the Improving Stormwater Management Advisory Committee with the aim of "(providing) advice to the Minister for Planning and the Minister for Water on how to improve stormwater management and strengthen the links between planning and urban water management."

The Committee is due to report to the Minister for Planning in October 2018 and was asked to consider land use types that are not currently subject to stormwater management requirements, whether they should be and how this could be achieved. The group was also asked to provide advice about strengthening links between stormwater management and the planning and development system.

The key issues that were highlighted include opportunities to:

- extend the coverage of stormwater planning requirements (to land use types not currently covered, including commercial and industrial)
- provide broader benefits (i.e. improved amenity)
- deliver a 'place based' approach (i.e. to respond to local conditions and receiving environments)
- link water management and urban planning (particularly in examples of urban consolidation)
- improve compliance and implementation (particularly with regard to ensuring that Councils can adequately maintain those assets)
- support stormwater management in the public realm.

Further it is noted that the current BPEM standards were largely designed to protect Port Phillip Bay and are unlikely to protect the ecological condition of more natural waterways (or Western Port Bay and Gippsland Lakes) into the future.

Stormwater as an issue

The underlying premise of stormwater management is that condition of our urban waterways and bays does not meet community expectations, and stormwater is the primary cause of concern. The reality is that these concerns are not new. The stormwater pollution framework currently in place was designed in response to community demands in the 1970s and 1980s to improve the condition of Port Phillip Bay and waterways such as the Yarra River that flow to it.

Whilst significant improvements have been made, and Victoria's waterways rate highly compared to those in comparable global cities, the community demands further improvements. This was highlighted by the media coverage of beach closures following heavy rainfall over the 2016/17 summer (e.g. https://twitter.com/EPA_Victoria/status/822195142471852032).) Much of this impact was attributed to diffuse pollution throughout the Port Phillip Bay catchment.

Historical view - where have we come from?

Historically, Melbourne's beaches drained unsewered urban catchments. Beach closures and warnings were common. Mounting social activism and desire for change drove improvements in policy, practice and community education. Before the 1990s there were no environmental performance standards for stormwater. The turning point was the Port Phillip Bay Environmental Study in 1996, funded by Melbourne Water and delivered by the CSIRO, which suggested a 1000 tonne reduction in the annual nitrogen load discharged to the Bay. This landmark study quantified chemical and biological processes within the Bay, enabling practitioners to predict the impact of catchment changes on ecological function.

The release of the SEPP (Waters of Victoria) Schedule F6 Waters of Port Phillip Bay in 1997 required the development of a Port Phillip Bay Environmental Management Plan to provide a framework for the protection and enhancement of beneficial uses of the Bay. This included a requirement to develop a nutrient reduction plan to achieve the reduction of nitrogen loads identified in the Port Phillip Bay Environmental Study.

The Port Phillip Bay investigation provided a new and compelling reason to do something about stormwater pollution. Further detail about stormwater quality was provided by Duncan in 1999 with a statistical overview of urban stormwater quality drawing from approximately 500 sources. Importantly, Duncan's work provided an understanding of the 'broad scale behaviour of urban runoff quality, and its interactions with land use and other catchment characteristics'. In response, Melbourne Water, the EPA and Local Government collaborated to determine how diffuse source pollution could be better managed. What emerged was an agenda to clarify the roles of the EPA, Melbourne Water and Local Government along with environmental performance standards and best practice guidelines for urban stormwater. Councils were then empowered to determine how they would apply the standards through local stormwater management plans. The potential existed to formalise these management plans to demonstrate compliance with the SEPP (or similar).

This knowledge led to the BPEM targets in 1999, and MUSIC software developed in 2001, providing an invaluable decision support tool for stormwater practitioners.

Eventually these activities were adopted as a government policy initiative. The Stormwater Action Plan was funded to \$22.5M, all councils developed a Stormwater Management Plan and since the Millennium drought these plans have evolved into IWM plans that broaden the scope of stormwater management.

Requirements for Integrated Water Management were subsequently included in the Victoria Planning Provisions referencing the environmental performance standards in the BPEM and were delivered along with extensive capacity building programs for Local Government and the ;land development industry. These planning controls have changed developer behaviour, mainstreaming the adoption of integrated water management in Victoria.

Water industry practice has also changed. Melbourne Water includes the stormwater management standards in its Development Services Schemes and uses its separate head of power to mandate these standards in green field subdivisions. As a result, virtually all greenfield development uses these standards and Melbourne Water now has ~500 stormwater wetlands and at any one time will have ~20 under construction.

In parallel, the scientific body of knowledge has continued to grow. In 2004 Fletcher et al synthesised data across five key themes to provide the industry with a better understanding of stormwater characteristics (including quality and flow), impacts, treatment options and their effectiveness and costs. The work also identified gaps in data and recommendations for further work. In recent years, the role of pathogens and toxicants in impacting waterway values such as recreation has become more important, as we try to deliver liveable urban spaces. Publications such as the CRC for Water Sensitive Cities' stormwater blueprints (Wong et al, 2013) have synthesised contemporary research to reframe urban water from a harm into an opportunity for cities to create sustainable water sources to address scarcity issues, and as an urban design response to emerging issues such as the urban heat island effect, for instance, through wide spread use of green infrastructure.

Science updates since 2013/14

Values

SEPP (Waters of Victoria) defines the uses and values of Victoria's waters, collectively referring to them as 'beneficial uses'. The SEPP also defines the level of environmental quality required to protect these beneficial uses by setting environmental quality indicators and objectives. These objectives can be used by waterway managers to inform their management plans and monitoring programs to help protect these beneficial uses.

Rutherfurd (2000) suggests that the simplest measure of waterway value is in comparison to the condition of waterways prior to European contact. Rutherfurd's consideration of value also incorporates values beyond ecology to include intrinsic beauty, recreation (i.e. swimming and fishing) and geodiversity (or physical characteristics). Hobbs (2006) took an alternative view to consider the value of modified urbanised ecosystems. By recognising what he termed 'novel ecosystems' that had evolved through 'human agency', he recognised the intrinsic benefits that those environments provided.

In addition to the ecological values identified by Rutherfurd and Hobbs, the recognition of the social values associated with water has evolved. The ANZECC Guidelines (2000) recognised indigenous, cultural and spiritual values and the 2003 version of SEPP (Waters of Victoria) introduced a beneficial use for both Indigenous and non-Indigenous cultural and spiritual values.

Healthy Land and Water in South East Queensland (SEQ) were early adopters of a regional approach to establishing values, reporting on progress through catchment Report Cards that have been released since 2000. The Report Cards deliver 'Environmental condition' and 'Waterway benefits' ratings (Healthy Land and Water, 2017, 2018b, 2018a). In 2015 the Report Cards objectives were updated with the Environmental condition objectives expanded to include 'Restoring and maintaining key habitats (i.e. riparian vegetation)' and 'Reducing pollutant loads (sediment and nutrients) entering waterways' (Healthy Land and Water, 2017, 2018b, 2018a). It is notable that 'Waterway benefits' includes community values and satisfaction, access to water, economic benefits realised through recreation and the contribution of catchments to drinking water provision as values.

In Victoria the most well-recognised waterway values framework is the Healthy Waterways Strategy (Melbourne Water, 2013). The Healthy Waterways Strategy (HWS) strategy is designed to protect the environmental, economic and social values of Port Phillip Bay and the five catchments within Metropolitan Melbourne. In 2013 seven values: Birds, Fish, Frogs, Macroinvertebrates, Platypus, Vegetation and Amenity were defined to protect the values associated with Melbourne's waterways and bays.

The Draft Healthy Waterways Strategy (2018) provides an update on the 2013 strategy. It has added the social values "community connection" and "recreation" to the 2013 values framework to better reflect the "broad range of social values" derived from waterways and integrates the previously separate waterway management and stormwater management strategies for Port Phillip and Western Port bays to deliver a common suite of values and objectives. Jones et al (2016) supports this approach, suggesting that effective waterway management requires an appreciation of how people interact with these environments to tailor and build public support for management plans. This is critical as the approach to waterway (and bay) management will change depending upon the values being protected (Jeppe et al, 2017).

In the Draft Healthy Waterways Strategy (2018) economic values are detailed, highlighting the link between economic benefit and ecosystem services. The economic costs and benefits delivered by a waterway are listed as including:

- Urban water supply/storage
- Recreation and commercial tourism
- Natural water treatment and dilution/assimilation of waste
- Production from extractive uses
- Drainage and flood conveyance
- Increase in property values.

This is supported by economic research on community willingness to pay, for example research finds a positive willingness to pay to manage stormwater to improve waterway condition as well as providing a range of other benefits such as urban cooling (CRC for Water Sensitive Cities, 2014)

The Draft Healthy Waterways Strategy (2018) has also evolved to identify priority areas and targets for stormwater harvesting and infiltration, quantifying the link between flow reduction, integrated water management and the protection of values.

Discussion

In summary, since 2013, the definition of values associated with Melbourne's waterways has evolved to encompass social values reflecting the greater consideration and range of community interactions with waterways and the environment. Economic values are explicitly listed while the role of integrated water management approaches has been quantified and geographically prioritised. As such the values that stormwater management would seek to protect are well defined across Metropolitan Melbourne. It is less well define across regional Victoria.

One of the questions that this science review is seeking to investigate is how the protection of these values is translated to specific places and conditions. Therefore, what do 'place-based' objectives look like and how can they be applied?

Place-based objectives

What do 'place-based' objectives look like and how can they be applied?

There are a range of values that occur throughout the rivers, wetlands, estuaries and bays of Melbourne (Pettigrove, 2018). These values, social, economic and ecological, are not homogeneous across the landscape and therefore management approaches to protect those values and risks should not adopt a "one size fits all approach" (Jones, 2016). The Draft Healthy Waterways Strategy (Melbourne Water, 2018) can be considered 'place-based' as it is designed to protect values within Metropolitan Melbourne's five main waterway catchments: the Werribee, Maribyrnong, Yarra, Dandenong, and Western Port. The strategy sets targets for rivers, wetlands, and estuaries with 15 categories of waterways defined with objectives set for each against the strategy's key values: Birds, Fish, Frogs, Macroinvertebrates, Platypus, Vegetation, Amenity, Community connection and Recreation. In doing so the strategy aims to optimise ecological outcomes in response to local conditions and opportunities (Coleman et al 2018). The desired outcomes will flow through to the design of catchment specific stormwater treatment options to protect priority values within those catchments (Horne et al, 2017).

The Draft Healthy Waterways Strategy also identified priority areas to harvest stormwater (82.7 GL/year) and for infiltration (22.6 GL/year), linking place-based targets to integrated water management practices.

There are examples where place-based objectives have been successfully applied to protect identified values. Spromberg et al (2016) investigated the rising mortality rates of the iconic Coho salmon in the Pacific North West, finding that untreated highway runoff was "universally lethal". Pre-treatment of stormwater via biofiltration met the water quality objectives required and led to a change in planning policy. From India, Tare et al (2013) determined water quality and flow objectives to support the cultural objectives for the Kumbh spiritual festival on the Ganges River. In Metropolitan Melbourne, Duncan et al (2014) investigated place-based flow metrics to estimate the reductions in flow that would be required to protect ecological values within Kororoit Creek: an ephemeral, headwater stream representing an intact and unique ecosystem. The study concluded that protecting pre-urbanisation values would require reductions in total annual runoff volume in the order of 70-90%. These examples illustrate the potential to introduce objectives to protect defined values. There is additional complexity in setting objectives when there are potentially multiple objectives and values, as there are within the Draft Healthy Waterways Strategy (2018). The potential for compromising certain values is illustrated in the Tare (2013) example where meeting cultural objectives reduced the volume of water available for agriculture, compromising economic and social values. Even in the context of a wetland, Jeppe et al.(2017) reflected that if the objective is pollutant removal, then this may compromise the wetland's suitability as habitat to support other values (e.g. fish).

Another challenge is having sufficient data to reasonably set objectives. Pettigrove (2018) suggests that it is unclear which pollutants are impacting Melbourne's waterway values due to insufficient weight of evidence, emphasising that this understanding is necessary to make informed management decisions. Miller (2018) concluded that gaps in understanding of the hydro-ecology of native Australian species made place-based targets, that protected values across a range of fish species, almost impossible to define. Similarly, McCarthy (2017) concluded there is insufficient evidence to determine health-based targets to enhance or protect the social value of recreation (swimming) in Port Phillip Bay. This reflects the current state of data quality and coverage, limiting the application of fine-grained place-based objectives, but does not dismiss the principle as such.

Duncan et al (2014) also recognises that the nature of place-based objectives makes scaling metrics up or down challenging (i.e. metrics that are effective at the catchment scale are less effective at local scales and visa versa). Burns et al (2013), note the considerable uncertainty associated with scaling lot-scale interventions to impacts at the catchment scale. The question of scaleability concept posits that in meeting the requirements of the receiving waterway or lot, that the sum of inputs or objectives should also corresponds to what is required to protect values of the catchment as a whole (Stewardson and Guarino, 2018).

Discussion

Social, ecological and economic values are location specific and therefore strategies to protect those values or to address specific threatening processes are likely to require tailored responses. There are local and international examples where robust scientific approaches have led to the development of objectives that have successfully protected individual values, however there is greater complexity associated with the protection of multiple values.

The Draft Healthy Waterways Strategy (2018) sets place-based objectives for waterway values across the broader Melbourne Metropolitan area. Given this geographical focus, it would be up to local waterway managers (including Catchment Management Authorities) and local governments across Victoria to define the values they wish to protect. In doing they may be able to draw on and apply the outcomes of the Draft Healthy Waterways Strategy (2018) and the science that underpins it.

This is supported by Action 5.5 of the The Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning's Water for Victoria document (2016) that includes Action 5.5. to "Improve stormwater management for greener environments" by "leading the development of local place-based targets for stormwater management".

The development of strategies to protect that range of values will respond to the value or values that the asset (or waterway) manager prioritises, for what purpose and at what cost. Lack of data and complexity of process is also noted as a potential barrier to objective setting in some cases.

Flow

What flow and geomorphology metrics (and targets) are important for receiving environment health?

The ecological health of waterways is generally known to be impacted by the hydrologic and water quality changes which occur due to urbanisation (McIntosh et al, 2013) which creates major changes to stream morphology and hydrology with the latter often cited as a primary stressor of urban stream ecosystems (Anim et al, 2017). In 2005 Walsh et al coined the term "Urban stream syndrome" to describe the observed ecological degradation of streams that drain urban catchments. The impacts of urban stream syndrome are wide ranging, with Walsh and Webb (2016) identifying urban stormwater as being likely to be a strong driver of macroinvertebrate species loss in streams.

The existing flow regulation within the BPEM states a requirement to 'maintain flows at pre-urbanisation levels' with a performance objective to maintain discharges for the 1.5-year ARI at pre-development levels.

While urbanisation is clearly associated with changes in hydrology, the changes are complex. In an extensive study in South East Queensland, McIntosh et al (2013) notes that while urbanisation is clearly associated with changes in hydrology, the impacts are complex and depend upon catchment characteristics (including size, slope, time of concentration and spatial hydrologic networks). Generally (but not always) the number of runoff events increase with urbanisation, the proportion of time under high flows tends to increase and time under low flows tends to decrease. McIntosh also proposed that hydrology on its own is not definitive with factors like temperature and construction phase water quality also important.

A number of studies have investigated flow metrics. Kennard et al, (2010) identified 120 potential flow metrics that describe ecologically relevant characteristics of the natural hydrologic regime with studies since then attempting to reduce the range to a more manageable number. Vietz et al. (2018) focussed on nine streamflow metrics (listed below) in applying the Urban Streamflow Impact Assessment (USIA) to understand the impacts on waterway values, and the setting of objectives to either retain or return those values:

- 1. Annual flow volume
- 2. Mean duration of zero flow periods
- 3. Total duration of zero flow periods
- 4. Baseflow index (ratio of baseflow to total flow volume)
- 5. Frequency of freshes (flows > 3 times median flow)
- 6. Total duration of freshes (flows > 3 times median flow)
- 7. Total duration of flows above channel erosion threshold
- 8. Frequency of floodplain engagement flows
- 9. Total duration of floodplain engagement flows

Data, tools and an expert panel were used to identify thresholds for each metric in response to the relevant values. Vietz presents the linkages between creek values and flow metrics. Their paper suggested that the metrics of 'mean annual flow volume' and 'time above the bed mobility threshold', were both associated with a high risk of losing values. The results suggest that for the Lowes Creek, Sydney case study, a 50% reduction in annual flow would be required to protect values, implying significant harvesting and reuse of stormwater. Vietz also identifies the reliance on expert opinion in negotiating metric thresholds as a shortcoming. This position supported by Stewardson et al (2017), suggesting that modelling of ecological responses has lagged behind that of hydrologic and hydraulic responses in environmental flows assessments, with expert opinion often used to predict likely ecological responses to specific changes in discharge and/or hydraulic habitat.

Despite recent work such as that set out in Vietz, the metrics adopted to analyse impact of stormwater on waterways has focussed on limited aspects of the flow regime, typically peak flows. This approach has the potential for perverse outcomes, such as large end-of catchment attempts at peak flow attenuation that don't mitigate the effects of urbanisation on stream geomorphology (Fletcher et al, 2014).

In response, Walsh et al (2016) proposed '5 principles for protecting stream ecology'. This approach includes the principle that the post development balance of evapotranspiration, stream flow, and infiltration should mimic the predevelopment balance an approach consistent with the natural flow regime. Along with Vietz et al (2018) and the work of Duncan et al (2014) discussed above, there is a consistent theme that reduction in total annual runoff volume is an important flow indicator.

There are obviously challenges to meeting high percentage reductions in mean annual flow particularly if this relies on stormwater harvesting, reuse and infiltration as there are significant space requirement associated with these approaches. Fletcher et al (2014), notes that stormwater harvesting is likely to be a critical element of an ecohydrological approach.

There are opportunities to restore pre-development catchment scale water fluxes (infiltration, evapotranspiration and runoff) via interventions at the land-parcel scale (Burns et al., 2013; Fletcher et al, 2013) ideally through a combination of rainwater harvesting and raingardens.

In Charlotte, North Carolina, Bell (2016) found that total imperviousness of a catchment was an effective management metric at the event scale that had driven uptake of WSUD. However, implementation of WSUD at the levels observed had not affected hydrology significantly at the watershed scale. In Australia more recently, the metric of effective imperviousness (EI) and directly connected imperviousness (DCI) have been used as an indicator of stream health. EI describes the proportion of a catchment made up of impervious areas that are directly connected to receiving waters via a constructed drainage system. EI provides a better prediction than Total imperviousness (TI) of changes in flow regime, water quality (Hatt et al., 2004) and geomorphic condition (Vietz et al., 2014).

Walsh et al., (2012) suggest that catchments with as little as 5–10% total imperviousness and conventional stormwater drainage are associated with poor in-stream ecological condition, reduced contributions to baseflows and increases in the frequency and magnitude of storm flows, while in similarly impervious catchments where there is informal drainage to forested hillslopes and no direct piped discharge to the stream, there is little hydrologic change and streams retain good ecological condition.

The focus on the nature of imperviousness (i.e. EI or DCI) may be an important step towards demonstrating the links between urban catchments and their streams.

A discussion on flows also requires consideration of the restoration of baseflows (Fletcher., 2014). The impacts of urbanisation on streams are mediated by alteration of land cover and subsurface drainage and understanding interactions of these two effects is critical (Walsh and Webb., 2016). Bonneau et al (2018) highlights the impact of urbanisation on groundwater flow, observing a relatively constant groundwater baseflow in forested catchments compared to distinct seasonal variations in urbanised catchments as groundwater responded to rainfall events. In summary Bonneau suggests that groundwater storages drain faster in the urbanised catchment, removing that constant baseflow that supports 'shallow slow water habitat' within urban streams.

Water sensitive urban design is applied to urban catchments to return them to a more natural flow regime. There are few existing monitoring studies provide early indications of the potential of stormwater control measures (SCMs) to deliver more natural flow regimes (Li et al, 2017). There remains a need for properly monitored studies that will assess the hydrologic effects of SCMs at the catchment scale. When discussing flow objectives, the Draft Healthy Waterways Strategy (HWS) (Melbourne Water., 2018) targets stormwater harvesting and infiltration as mechanisms to contribute to achieving those objectives, however there is a trade off in locating and paying for those systems.

The Little Stringybark Creek project (Walsh et al., 2012) aims to quantify the magnitude of this problem by comparing streamflow volumes from a range of undeveloped catchments in the Melbourne region with the volumes that would run off impervious surfaces in those catchments. The study estimates that for 1 Ha of impervious surface, the volume of excess stormwater is:

- 2.6–3.0 ML/y in catchments with mean annual rainfall of 400 mm rising to
- 5.1–7.8 ML/y in catchments with 1200 mm/year of rainfall.

Discussion

Flow is a critical threat to urban waterways and evidence to support this continues to grow. There are numerous potential indicators that can reflect the impact of flow on waterway values. Research has indicated that total annual runoff volume is a reasonable indicator when seeking to protect ecological values. Protecting or restoring values in an urbanised catchment may require something in the order of 50-90% reduction in flows, with stormwater harvesting, reuse and infiltration a key contributor to reaching such a target. This significant reduction would require suitable catchment conditions, sufficient demand for the harvested water and investment. There is limited information on whether lesser percentage reductions are suitable where protecting pre-development values is not the objective. There are also opportunities to contribute to flow reductions on the lot scale, via rainwater harvesting and infiltration.

Research continues into what the best metrics are to reflect the management of stormwater flow, with a range of potential options increasing the complexity. Importantly while flow management has been applied at a location scale, application at a catchment scale is more challenging.

There is good scientific understanding of what is required to reduce flow; the retention of pervious areas, stormwater harvesting and infiltration, therefore management in the near term is likely to be driven by the cost effectiveness of these alternatives, while the scientific understanding of flow targets and objectives is refined. There is also a clear threshold of ~5% catchment imperviousness beyond which ecosystems are substantially damaged.

What remains unclear is the restoration pathway. Does removing excess flow in a highly impervious catchment (or modifying flow regimes) restore degraded ecosystems and is the benefit greater than the social and economic cost that this approach imposes? This suggests a two tier, place based approach, as advocated within the Healthy Waterways Strategy, to identify and retain intact, high value waterways using stringent flow-based targets while applying less stringent targets to highly urbanised and impervious catchments.

Stormwater quality

Are the current targets proposed in BPEM sufficient to protect waterway health and public health?

Current BPEM guidelines require a removal of TSS, TP, TN and litter from urban stormwater. Other planning guidelines and standards (e.g., Singapore, Queensland) also include TSS, TP and TN as key indicators to address in stormwater management strategies (Lim and Lu, 2016; Lucke et al., 2018). The removal of these constituents from stormwater is necessary for ecological protection and public health. Due to the association of microbial contaminants (Helen et al., 2016; Henry et al., 2015) and toxic contaminants to suspended matter in urban stormwater (Walaszek et al., 2018a), removal of the TSS enables removal of key toxic and microbial contaminants. In addition, fine sediments have been found to pose risks to aquatic biota in streams by smothering habitats and reducing light penetration (Aspray et al., 2017; Davies-Colley et al., 2014). Both phosphorus and nitrogen removal are necessary for guarding against eutrophication in receiving waters (Paerl et al., 2016, 2015; Yang and Lusk, 2018). In addition, litter (gross pollutants) in urban stormwater is often comprised of vegetated matter which can contribute nutrients to receiving waters (Alam et al., 2017). Indeed, street cleaning and the removal of gross pollutants from a catchment in North America was found to lead to reductions in total phosphorus by 84% and total nitrogen by 74% (Selbig, 2016).

As such, the current scientific literature appears to state that targeting reduction in suspended solids, gross pollutants and nutrients in receiving waters is important for protecting ecosystem health. The current BPEM removal targets from urban stormwater (of 80%, 45%, 45% and 70% for TSS, TP, TN and litter loads) were based on previous assessments around the reductions in nitrogen loads required to achieve outcomes in Port Phillip Bay (Port Phillip Bay Environmental Study (CSIRO, 1996)), but there is little evidence in the literature that these are sufficient for protecting stream and public health in urban waterways. Given that there is a significant amount of monitoring data from urban streams throughout Victoria, there is the opportunity to review this data to consider how these targets may be influencing the protection of urban waterways, but there is no literature that the environmental quality objectives in the SEPP. For a sound assessment of the appropriateness of current BPEM objectives, a rigorous analysis of the existing data is needed. It is possible that the original load reduction targets were determined based on typical stormwater management technology load reduction performance at the time (Sage et al., 2015a), rather than a consideration of what is actually required to protect urban waterways.

Previous studies in other regions have found limited evidence of direct links between reduction in suspended solids and nutrient loads into waterways and improvements in stream health (as measured by biological community composition) (Lee and An, 2014). Furthermore, timing of the pollutant inputs and the impact of resuspended bed sediments in aquatic systems can significantly effect stream health (Davis and Koop, 2006; Visser et al., 2016). The focus on only reducing mean annual nutrient and sediment loads may therefore not account for the processes by which these contaminants impact urban waterways and suggests that the "blunt" lever of a percentage reduction in loads to facilitate actions that protect stream health needs to be reconsidered.

It is also important to note that current BPEM objectives target load reductions. There are examples of stormwater management objectives from other parts of the world (e.g., Singapore, Canada, New Zealand, France) where the urban stormwater quality objectives are composed of concentration targets (Lim and Lu, 2016; Sage et al., 2015a). Pollutant loads in streams can lead to ecological impairments, particularly in lentic systems (Sage et al., 2015a), in some lotic systems, pollutant concentrations can have stronger links to public health and ecological outcomes (Chambers et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2018). Maret et al. (2010) identified stronger correlations between TN concentrations (compared to TN load) and eutrophication occurrence in agricultural streams in North America.

As such, it appears that there may be a need to consider including concentration objectives in stormwater management objectives, especially for lotic systems. According to Sage et al. (2015), whilst effluent concentration-based stormwater quality targets are rare but do exist in Auckland (New Zealand), Halifax and London (Canada) and Yonne (France). However, the authors of this study note that these strategies may be problematic as stormwater discharge is highly dependent on influent concentrations. As such, it may not be practical to design stormwater management strategies that can consistently meet a certain effluent concentration target. Furthermore, they note that if runoff volumes are not managed in the stormwater management tool or technology, the total loads entering receiving waters will may remain high regardless of whether concentration targets are met.

Should additional water quality parameters be included within BPEM?

In the scientific literature, a large number of studies have investigated water quality parameters not included in BPEM. These parameters include: heavy metals, pathogens, and trace organic contaminants (e.g., pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs), pesticides, hydrocarbons). Currently, BPEM assumes that the removal of TSS, TP, TN and gross pollutants will inherently lead to removal of additional compounds from stormwater (Sage et al., 2015a). In this section, the following questions will be addressed for each pollutant class:

- Do these pollutants pose a human health risk or environmental health risk?
- At what levels are these pollutants found in stormwater?
- What are the sources of these pollutants?
- Are there other water quality parameters that could act as surrogates for these pollutants?

A summary of the key findings relating to each of these groups of parameters is included below.

Heavy metals

Heavy metals are of concern due to their persistence in the environment and their potential toxicity to both aquatic organisms and humans (Egodawatta et al., 2013). Whilst data on heavy metal risks is available, these are generally in relation to the effect of individual metals on humans and/or the environment. It is important to take into account that risks can increase when humans and organisms are exposed to mixtures of metals through synergistic effects (Cobbina et al., 2015; Ma et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2016). As such, future studies assessing the impact of multiple metal mixtures on both humans and Victorian aquatic organisms are required for setting environmental and public health trigger values for heavy metals in water.

The most recent studies of heavy metal concentrations in Melbourne stormwater was conducted by the CRC for Water Sensitive Cities (Gernjak et al., 2016) and Allinson et al. (2017). In both studies, heavy metal concentrations in stormwater were analysed for urban stormwater collected in Melbourne, Victoria. The stormwater concentrations were collected between 2011 and 2012, and for most metals (Cu, Zn, Pb, Cr, Cd), maximum concentrations are higher than the Australian Drinking Water Guideline values (NHMRC, 2011) as well as the ANZECC/ARMCANZ trigger values for 95% ecosystem protection (ANZECC/ARMCANZ, 2000a).

The correlation between metals with each other or with sediments and nutrients is uncertain with variability in results suggesting the influence of individual site characteristics. Further investigation may be required to identify why correlations occur at some sites but not others. While conclusions regarding metals are limited by data, concentration-based objectives particularly for lotic systems with potential health concerns, should be considered.

Pathogens

Pathogens in stormwater are of concern to humans due to their potential to cause infectious and/or gastrointestinal diseases (NRMMC–EPHC–NHMRC, 2009). They often come from human or animal waste and crosscontamination of stormwater with sewage (Jiang et al., 2015). Humans may come into contact with pathogens in stormwater when:

- i. recreating in waterways where urban stormwater has been discharged, or
- ii. harvesting stormwater for re-use.

Quantitative Microbial Risk Assessments (QMRA) are being used more frequently in recent studies to assess the risk that pathogens in stormwater poses to humans (de Man et al., 2014; Lim et al., 2015; Murphy et al., 2017; Sinclair et al., 2015; Soller et al., 2015). For example, Murphy et al., (2017) assessed the public health risks associated with Campylobacter spp. presence in stormwater.

The authors found that when stormwater was not treated, there was a risk of infection, which was above recommended health thresholds, when stormwater was harvested and reused for garden irrigation, toilet flushing or swimming. Whilst there are uncertainties associated with the QMRA method due to uncertainties in dose-response models (Lim et al., 2015; Murphy et al., 2017), this these methods could be used to help assess public health risks associated with pathogens in stormwater and are now commonly used in assessments of health impacts in drinking water supplies. The link between pathogens and other parameters (such as the current parameters in BPEM) is unclear, though as noted earlier, there is some evidence of correlations with suspended particulates and pathogens in some studies.

A review by Bichai and Ashbolt (2017) suggests that pathogen stormwater targets are uncommon, and to our knowledge do not exist. As highlighted in Murphy et al. (2017), and Schoen et al. (2017), the only pathogen guidelines for stormwater are in the context of stormwater harvesting and reuse.

As with metals, more work is needed to understand the specific risks concerning pathogens and the appropriate management approaches and targets to address those risks.

Trace organic contaminants (Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs))

PAHs in urban stormwater are of concern due to the potential toxicity of these compounds to both aquatic organisms and humans (Gilbreath and McKee, 2015; McIntyre et al., 2016). The carcinogenic nature of these compounds has led to the inclusion of 16 PAHs (e.g., benzo anthracenes, benzopyrenes) on the list of priority pollutants monitored by the US EPA (Yan et al., 2004). McIntyre et al. (2015) found high levels of mortality of invertebrates and juvenile Coho Salmon when they were exposed to untreated highway runoff. Similarly Young et al. (2018) identified cardiovascular dysfunction and deformities in fish when exposed to urban runoff containing PAHs.

However, there is still a lack of understanding of the effect of PAHs in urban stormwater on Australian biota in receiving waters. Furthermore, a risk assessment of exposure of humans to stormwater contaminated with PAHs is still lacking.

Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products (PPCPs)

The effects of chronic exposure to low levels of PPCPs are not yet certain. Whilst predicted no effect concentrations have been developed for ecological effects (Fabbri and Franzellitti, 2016; López-Doval et al., 2017; You et al., 2015), these have been developed by conducting toxicity tests under controlled conditions. Questions remain about the toxicity of pharmaceuticals mixtures, and the effects on organisms in different environments (López-Doval et al., 2017).

The level of pharmaceuticals present in the environment are thought to be of little concern for human health (Cizmas et al., 2015). However, there are concerns about the potential increase in antibiotic resistant bacteria in the environment as a result of increased levels of antibiotics in the environment (Cizmas et al., 2015; Garner et al., 2017). More research is needed on the levels of these compounds in stormwater and the impact before they are incorporated in BPEM.

Pesticides/herbicides/insecticides/fungicides

Biocide concentrations in urban stormwater have not exceeded public health guidelines in the evidence we have reviewed. However, there are concerns about the effect of these biocides on aquatic organisms. Recent studies (Allinson et al., 2015; Carpenter et al., 2016; Jeppe et al., 2017) have shown that pesticides and herbicides found in urban stormwater can have toxic effects on aquatic biota. For example Carpenter et al. (2016) found that diversity of insects was lower in urban stream sites with high bifenthrin concentrations in sediments. Similarly, Allinson et al. (2015) found that all PSII herbicides (e.g., atrazine, simazine) pose a threat to primary producers in urban ponds and wetlands. Whilst there is a growing body of evidence about negative effects of biocides on aquatic ecosystems, more research is required to identify: (1) toxicity limits, (2) the effect of chronic, long-term exposure, (3) the effect of exposure to mixtures of biocides in the environment (Mokarizadeh et al., 2015).

The evidence of the link between biocides and other parameters is inconclusive although some studies suggest that stormwater infrastructure like raingardens can remove biocides. More research is needed on the levels of these compounds in stormwater and their impact before they are incorporated in BPEM.

Monitoring stormwater quality

Currently, stormwater quality is generally monitored using samples taken manually (grab samples) or samples taken using automated samplers. Whilst manual sampling can be cost effective, the advantage of automated samplers is that they can capture sudden or high flows that might not otherwise be sampled by humans due to timing or safety problems (McCarthy and Harmel, 2014). However automated samplers also have disadvantages including: the requirement for routine site visits to ensure the equipment is working, the costs associated with purchasing and installing an automated sampler, and uncertainties due to the location of the sampling intake, type of material used in the sampler and pumping capacity (McCarthy and Harmel, 2014).

There is a growing body of literature on high frequency passive sampling and environmental sensing of urban water quality. Passive samplers are able to detect time-weighted average levels of dissolved contaminants such as nutrients, metals and, trace organics (Almeida et al., 2016; Criquet et al., 2017; Joyce et al., 2015) in water. In these systems, contaminants are diffused onto the material in the passive sampler, until the material reaches equilibrium with the surrounding environment (Jeong et al., 2018). There are several of these devices on the market (e.g., Sorbicell, POCIS) (Novic et al., 2017). Whilst these devices can potentially capture the temporal variability in water quality in urban stormwater without needing a power supply, they require calibration prior to field deployment (Criquet et al., 2017). These samplers have been found to inadequately capture the particulate fraction of urban stormwater. Furthermore, it was found that concentrations in stormwater were overestimated because only flows above a threshold are measured by the passive sampler (Birch et al., 2011). For passive samplers, calibration in the field under different conditions to ensure that these passive samplers provide accurate concentrations is still needed (Almeida et al., 2016; Criquet et al., 2017; Hutchins et al., 2016).

In addition to passive samplers, environmental sensor networks are being developed for monitoring urban water systems. The sensors can be linked to wireless networks to provide real-time updates of water quality, which enable managers to respond quickly to sudden changes in water quality to minimise public health and ecological impacts of pollution events (Hutchins et al., 2016). Such systems have been implemented for the real-time monitoring of turbidity (Jones et al., 2017; Lambrou et al., 2014; Ng et al., 2015), nitrate (Jones et al., 2016; Miller et al., 2018; Pellerin et al., 2016), electrical conductivity (Krause et al., 2015), chlorophyll a (Hutchins et al., 2016), fluorescent Dissolved Organic Matter (Jones et al., 2017), dissolved oxygen (Jones et al., 2017) and pH (Jones et al., 2017).

In addition, studies have used real-time monitoring of climate and flow patterns to manage urban stormwater. For example, Xu et al. (2018) used real-time updates of rainfall to determine when to release water from rainwater tanks to reduce uncontrolled overflows of stormwater and this technology is now being used in Victoria, for instance in the Aquarevo development in south east Melbourne. Muschalla et al. (2014) used real-time monitoring and control of flow entering into stormwater retention basins to reduce overflow and bypasses. It is estimated that this resulted in a 60% greater removal rate of particulates from stormwater, compared with a base-case scenario with no real-time control (Muschalla et al., 2014).

Discussion

The literature since the previous review of BPEM suggests that removal of TSS, TP, TN and gross pollutants from urban stormwater is important, both to protect the health of receiving waters, and to protect public health. Whilst considering reductions in annual load of these pollutants are important, the literature suggests that as well as the annual load, the timing of loads, seasonality of loads and the concentrations of pollutants (especially in lotic systems) are also important for maintaining receiving water health and guarding against disease outbreaks. During this review we did not identify a study that has assessed the impact of the current BPEM targets on waterway and public health. A study by Zhao et al. (2018) paired a catchment approach to evaluate the impact of low impact development on pollution emissions from catchments and there have been studies that have predicted water quality in urban streams and in urban stormwater after the implementation of stormwater management tools (e.g., Hoghooghi et al. 2018). However, it appears that the modelled results have not yet been validated using measured data. A recent review by Eckhart et al. (2017) suggests that there is a lack of understanding of long-term performance, and long-term ecological impacts of stormwater treatment measures, in terms of water quality.

Whilst TSS, TP, TN and gross pollutants are important contaminants to remove from urban stormwater, there are other contaminants present in urban stormwater that can have significant public health and environmental health impacts including heavy metals, pathogens, PAHs, PPCPs, biocides, salts and other trace organic contaminants.

Whilst there is evidence that the removal of TSS, TP and TN also removes heavy metals in certain circumstances or conditions, there does not appear to not be a clear consensus in the recent literature on whether the removal of TSS, TP and TN from urban stormwater will lead to a concurrent removal in these additional toxicants.

This may be due to the fact that correlations between pollutants in urban stormwater and correlations between pollutant removal from urban stormwater are governed by site-specific or time-specific factors. These should be investigated further to gain a better understanding of under what contexts, the removal of TSS, TP and TN is likely to lead to removal of other stormwater contaminants.

It should also be noted that monitoring and modelling techniques are improving based on the evidence we have reviewed. Whilst there are still further technological improvements to be made on new monitoring techniques such as passive samplers and real-time environmental sensing, the implementation of these systems could lead to a shift in the way we monitor and understand stormwater quality. In addition, there is significant evidence that default pollutant concentrations used to assess current BPEM achievement do not reflect the last decade of monitoring data (including data funded by EPA and collected in Melbourne).

Stormwater management effectiveness

The current BPEM aims to protect waterway values primarily through a reduction in the loads of TSS, TP, TN and litter reaching Port Phillip Bay. Other receiving environments, like Western Port, have different ecologies (seagrass, mangrove and saltmarsh communities) and water quality risks (e.g. suspended sediment) and require different load reduction targets (EPA, 2001). The means to meet these load reduction targets is primarily achieved through the application of water sensitive urban design (WSUD), such as wetlands and biofiltration assets that are designed and modelled using the software tool MUSIC.

Pollution reduction

A review of the literature regarding the performance of WSUD assets has been divided into biofiltration and wetlands.

Biofiltration: Biofiltration systems use the treatment capabilities of plants, microorganisms, and soil to mitigate the impacts of polluted stormwater. Analysis of the performance of biofiltration systems suggest treatment performance is variable, with nitrogen removal efficiencies ranging from a net increase in nitrogen to an up to 70% removal (Payne et al., 2014).

Hatt et al., (2009) concluded that pollutant removal in biofilters is closely correlated with the volume reduction across the biofilter due to evapotranspiration and/or infiltration, acknowledging that the extent of flow reduction was variable across sites. Parker, N., (2010) also found that pollutant load reduction could still be achieved via volume reduction, despite cases where pollutant concentrations exiting bioretention assets were higher than those entering.

Moore et al., (2017) summarises 246 studies published in 2016 addressing the characterisation and management of urban stormwater runoff. In that summary Moore highlighted experiments on 10-year-old biofiltration cells in Australia. They found the cells exported pollutants in tests where no pollutants were added, TP loads decreased for all tests and despite being close to roadways only minimal amounts of hydrocarbons and heavy metals were found within the media of these cells (Nichols and Lucke., 2016).

In terms of performance, biofilters are sensitive to plants species selection (Dietz., 2016) and nitrogen removal capability improves when internal water storage zones are included as part of bioretention cells design (Payne et al., 2014). Glaister, B.J., 2013 found that vegetation, a saturated zone and a novel metal-oxide rich filter media are integral to nitrogen removal, while Dagenais, D., (2018) found that bioretention performance is influenced by plant selection and factors such as root characteristics and growth rate, and this affects nutrient removal performance.

Biofilters or raingardens, have shown promising, yet variable, results in reducing pathogens (Chandrasena, G et al., 2017a). In a subsequent study by the same authors (Chandrasena, G et al., 2017b), the significant knowledge gaps in the capacity of stormwater biofilters to remove pathogens was recognised, including how this removal is impacted by biofilter design elements and operational conditions.

In summary, biofiltration performance in terms of concentration reduction is variable, with load reductions often driven through volumes loss. There are characteristics that are common to effective biofilters including suitable vegetation and water storage zones, making these, among other factors, critical for biofiltration design and application.

Wetlands: As with biofiltration units, in comparatively well-studied wetland systems the measures of nutrient plant uptake are debated (Payne et al., 2014). The effectiveness of WSUD in meeting BPEM targets was examined by Koch et al., (2014) who undertook a comprehensive synthesis of data to assess the variability in nitrogen (N) removal performance in urban stormwater ponds, wetlands, and swales. While wetlands showed high variability in NO₃ removal, this finding was largely driven by a single observation. Koch summarised that in the 19 examples reviewed (including constructed wetlands and wet swales), a 61% total nitrogen removal efficiency was observed. This study also noted that there is very little empirical information on the long-term effectiveness of using stormwater treatment assets (WSUD) to control excess nitrogen. In South East Queensland, Parker, N., (2010) found that pollutant load reductions in wetlands were attributable to reduced outflow concentrations.

Similarly, Moore et al., (2017) summarised 19 studies published on wetland performance in 2016 focused at least partially on their ability to sequester nutrients and metals across various temporal scales. Five studies examined water quality performance of wetlands between 4 and 20 years in age (Adyel et al., 2016; Al-Rubaei et al., 2016; Corstanje et al., 2016; Kadlec, 2016; Xu et al., 2016). Each study assessed phosphorus retention, which was found to achieve concentration reductions of between 60% and 77%.

A review of heavy metal uptake by wetland plants indicated that this process is highly variable and not well understood (Vyzmal and Brezinova, 2016), noting however that the relative fraction of the total metal load sequestered in plant shoots (as opposed to above ground tissue) ranged as high as 70%.

Studies also point to the importance of sedimentation as a pollution removal mechanism within wetlands while nutrient storage in plant biomass represents a relatively small proportion (5% to 34%) of total sequestration (Moore et al, 2017). Nichols et al. (2016) also investigated the performance of floating wetlands that act to slow passing flow enabling a greater proportion of sediments to settle out. While there was a high degree of variation, floating wetlands show potential at reducing TSS and TP.

In summary, whilst data is not conclusive, studies point to the reduction in concentration of TN and TP as a result of treatment via wetlands with sedimentation seen as an important element of the pollutant removal mechanism. Plant biomass is responsible for a relatively small amount of nutrient removal, while root systems are potentially effective at sequestering heavy metals.

Hydrologic performance

Understanding the hydrologic performance of water sensitive urban design (WSUD) assets is a complex and emerging field of research.

Individual assets

Early research by Hatt et al., (2009) illustrated that WSUD decreased peak flow rates and achieved long-term reductions in runoff. Performance however was highly site specific and dependent upon design, catchment, and climatic characteristics. Parker, N. (2010) concluded that constructed wetland, bioretention basin and bioretention swales reduced peak flow as well as runoff volume and frequency of flow. Palla, A and Gnecco, I (2015) modelled the effect of WSUD at an urban sub-catchment scale concluding that an effective impervious area of 5% is required to required to realise noticeable hydrologic benefits, including peak flow reduction, volume reduction and hydrograph delay.

Moore et al., (2017) identified two studies that focused solely on water quantity results including volume and peak reduction (Tang et al., 2016; Winston, Dorsey, and Hunt, 2016). Winston et al., (2016) in Ohio found that exfiltration rates were generally greater than the design values because of installed internal water storage zones. For 1-year rainfall intensities at these sites, peak flow was reduced by between 24% to 96%, with best performance occurring when the peak rainfall occurred before the centroid of the rainfall volume (i.e. where the peak arrived before 50% of the overall volume of the storm event).

Yau et al., (2017) also assessed the effect of ABC Waters Program when applied to a new precinct level development in Singapore. Features include bioretention lawns, raingardens, vegetated swales with modelling (using a 1D SWMM model) illustrating that WSUD is effective in reducing peak flow and runoff coefficient during storm events up to the 10-year design storm.

Catchment scale application

While these studies speak to the performance of individual assets, there is less conclusive evidence of WSUD assets meeting catchment scale objectives. Loperfido, J.V (2014) examined four catchments in the Chesapeake Bay watershed concluding that in urbanised catchments proportion of forest cover (or pervious area), was a more important driver of catchment scale hydrology than distributed WSUD in solving 'urban stream syndrome'. Bell et al (2016) concurred, finding from a meta-analysis of data across 16 catchments in North Carolina that WSUD did not significantly affect event hydrology *at the catchment scale* as total imperviousness remained the dominant predictor of event hydrologics metrics.

Walsh et al (2012) however suggest that in urbanised catchments dispersed urban stormwater retention measures can potentially protect urban stream ecosystems by mimicking the hydrologic effects of informal drainage if sufficient volumes of water are harvested and kept out of the stream. Walsh et al. (2015) and Li et al (2017) present results from the Little Stringybark Creek project (21.3 Ha of impervious roof and road surfaces) in outer Melbourne, concluding that stormwater control measures (SCMs) can significantly reduce streamflow volume and runoff coefficient at this scale.

In South Australia flow management is one of the primary drivers for WSUD uptake by councils, with WSUD implemented to control flooding and reduce peak flows. Myers et al. (2013) finds that a complete retrofit of every allotment in a catchment with detention, or street scale rain garden, was effective at maintaining peak flow rates at pre-infill development levels. Loperfido et al (2014) also concluded that distributed WSUD caused higher baseflows, lower maximum discharge and stream response, than centralised WSUD.

The location of WSUD in the catchment was also found to matter with at-source measures treating a larger range of pollutants at lower flowrates, while end of catchment treatments treat larger flows (Loperfido, J.V 2014)), In terms of managing catchment hydrology to protect receiving waterways, a combination of distributed and end of catchment measures is therefore needed.

Therefore, while the performance of WSUD systems within smaller catchments is relatively well researched, the evidence of catchment scale improvements is less well-known, with the Little Stringybark Creek project providing valuable data.

Integrated water management (IWM)

The harvesting of stormwater from the urbanised catchment along with WSUD, is also critical to reinstating a more natural hydrologic regime. The consideration of IWM options through retrofitting or as part of new developments continues to evolve, as does how these elements integrate with BPEM requirements. Rainwater and stormwater harvesting are two commonly applied IWM options.

Rainwater tanks: Rainwater tanks are proposed primarily to harvest roof water and reduce potable water demand. Households using rainwater for indoor and outdoor demands use approximately 42 kL/year at an energy rate of 1.8 kWh/kL (Moglia et al, 2014). The impact of rainwater tanks on hydrology was investigated by Burns et al, (2012) who concluded that the use of rainwater tanks alone cannot completely restore the natural retention capacity of typical land-parcels. Petrucci et al. (2012) indicated that retention tanks in a small urban catchment could influence flow during regular rainfall events, but not from large rainfall events. The on-going contribution of rainwater tanks to changed hydrology is perhaps debatable as Gardiner, 2010 suggested that landowners do not maintain their tanks.

Stormwater harvesting: Stormwater harvesting removes flow volumes from the catchment, typically for the purposes of open space irrigation, providing an alternative water source and contributing to waterway health objectives. As noted above, Melbourne Water (2018) has specified a target of 82.7 GL/year of stormwater harvesting to (generally) protect waterway values in the upper reaches of catchments. Duncan, H. (2014) supports this, suggesting that stormwater needs to be harvested at a point upstream of the smallest tributaries within the catchment for all these receiving waters to be protected.

Tang et al. (2013) went further and investigated the potential for stormwater reuse, and specifically indirect potable reuse of stormwater, by benchmarking stormwater samples from urban, residential and industrial sites across various Australian capital cities against samples from the entire water cycle, from sewage to drinking water. The study concluded that the baseline toxicity equivalent concentrations of the most polluted samples were similar to secondary treated effluent from wastewater treatment plants. It confirmed that road runoff is the potential source of contaminants and that high estrogenicity could be related to sewage overflow. A thorough understanding of stormwater quality is therefore essential to develop appropriate treatment facilities for potential reuse, or alternatively stormwater management should assume pathogen contamination and treat stormwater accordingly.

Asset condition

Melbourne Water undertook a comprehensive review of WSUD asset condition to understand the extent to which they are delivering their intended functions, the type of problems that exist and their causes (Melbourne Water, 2017). The audit divided assets into bioretention and tree pits, wetlands and aesthetic impact with the following summarised results:

- **Bioretention and tree pits**: 25% of these assets were found to be performing as designed with 25% failing and 50% underperforming. The main causes of underperforming or failing assets including blocked inlets, clogged filter media, incorrect levels and poor plant density.
- Wetlands: 13 wetlands were audited for treatment function and aesthetic condition. 20% were found to be performing well with 40% underperforming and 40% failed. Plant density was a significant cause of underperforming assets, often caused by water depths that are deeper than current design recommendations.
- Aesthetics: It was also found that about 50% of all assets audited are contributing to aesthetical improvements.

This audit concluded that while there are many examples of failing assets, design and construction has improved over time reflecting an industry that is maturing with the benefit of guidelines and specifications. Bioretention systems and tree pits constructed in the last five years are found to be well designed with no major construction issues. All wetlands constructed in the last four years had good plant cover with planted zones that were likely to have been designed with suitable water depths.

Payne et al., (2014) highlighted critical issues with wetland function including a firm basis for the beneficial role of plants, the inclusion of limited deep-water zones in wetlands of sufficient size, the need for careful design of wetland hydraulics including consistent features across the width of the wetland, and the importance of a relatively shallow water regime, both during vegetation establishment and on an ongoing basis.

Climate change and WSUD

For short-duration precipitation events, a global shift toward more intense individual storms and fewer weak storms is likely as temperatures increase (IPCC., 2013). This adverse impact on extreme rainfall intensities could increase the risk of flood at many locations (Engineers Australia., 2014). Further winter rainfall is projected to decline across much of southern Australia with the exception of Tasmania and the decline of rainfall in Southern Australia during the cool season remains a confident projection (Hope et al., 2015).

Climate change is impacting upon catchment hydrology and therefore the existing values that stormwater management aims to protect. Saft et al (2015) identified a significant shift in the rainfall-runoff relationship in ~46% of catchments studied following periods of prolonged, but temporary drought. Saft et al (2016) also noted that in catchments where the rainfall-runoff relationship has changed, predictive models consistently overestimated runoff, providing overly optimistic assessments of future water availability, with implications for catchment modelling approaches.

Several studies have investigated the impact of future climate change on urban stormwater quality by modelling the effect of future climate change scenarios on urban rainfall, runoff and pollutant export. These studies have been conducted for the east coast (Alamdari et al., 2017; Hathaway et al., 2014; Zahra et al., 2015), south-east (Ouyang et al., 2018) and west coast of North America (Tariq et al., 2017). The majority of these modelling studies have found that climate change will result in an increase in pollutant export from urban areas due to increases in flow. In particular, Hathaway et al. (2014) found increased frequency in untreated overflow from stormwater treatment basins (bioretention basins) under future climate change scenarios. Parker, N., (2010) concurs that nitrogen export from urban catchments is increasing as large storms become more frequent as a result of climate change.

It is expected that stormwater management objectives will have to be adjusted to take into account the increased stress that receiving waters will be experiencing due to future climate changes. For example, it is expected that increased temperatures and increased CO₂ concentrations in the atmosphere may result in increased frequencies of eutrophication in receiving waters, even without increasing nutrient exports from the catchment (Visser et al., 2016). To our knowledge, modelling studies that assess the impact of climate change on urban runoff has not been conducted for South-East Australian cities. This should be acknowledged as knowledge gap, with stormwater quality objectives defined based on current understanding and updated according to our understanding of climate change impacts in future. However, in undertaking these modelling studies, down-scaling of global circulation models (GCMs) can lead to significant uncertainties in climate projections, and these uncertainties will need to be taken into account in these modelling studies (Najafi and Hessami Kermani, 2017; Wang et al., 2017).

Offsets schemes

Melbourne Water operates a nitrogen offset scheme that allows developers who are unable to implement on-site WSUD controls to purchase an offset elsewhere in the catchment (www.melbournewater.com.au). In considering this approach, Croker et al (2016) suggest that offsets, as currently designed, target pollutant loads at catchment scale but often do not account for alterations to flow regimes that can cause local impacts. This approach enables stormwater management actions to be delivered at least cost.

There is also scope to attract funding for WSUD (or urban waterway rehabilitation) from broader offset schemes. Enhancing Our Dandenong Creek was a waterway improvement project negotiated between the EPA, the waterway manager and sewerage service provider in response to the failure to comply with environmental protection requirements. While not part of a formal offset process, it is an example of an approach to direct sewer upgrade funding to other amenity and pollution control activities that would have greater overall impact (Watkins, 2017). This approach takes a risk-based approach to water way protection and allows targeting of stormwater where it is the most harmful threatening process.` Despite the fact that real-time monitoring and control by environmental sensors provides great promise in monitoring water quality dynamics and managing urban stormwater quality, further research in this field is required. First, we currently do not have sensors available to measure all pollutants of interest in urban stormwater (TSS, heavy metals, phosphorus, trace organic contaminants), and as such we rely on monitoring surrogates parameters, which can induce uncertainty in our understanding of the pollutant dynamics (McDonald et al., 2018; Wong and Kerkez, 2016). Secondly, further work is required to improve the power consumption of these sensors to reduce the need for frequent servicing and maintenance (Wong and Kerkez, 2016). Finally, refinement of currently used sensors is required to ensure high sensitivity and accuracy, whilst ensuring that fouling does not occur (Harmel et al., 2018; Pellerin et al., 2016).

Uncertainties in urban stormwater quality: It is important to acknowledge that collection of data on urban stormwater quality can have significant uncertainties. These can be a result of uncertainties due to discharge measurement uncertainties (especially during low flows), sample collection frequency (e.g. whether or not the first flush was capture) and location (e.g., location of automated sampler intake), sample preservation and storage and laboratory analysis (Harmel et al., 2018, 2016; McCarthy et al., 2008) (McCarthy and Harmel, 2014). For some constituents (e.g., TP, orthophosphate and *E. coli*), random uncertainty of up to 100% in concentrations has been detected in urban stormwater (Harmel et al., 2018). Further quantification of measurement uncertainties for other constituents (metals, organic contaminants) is needed. These uncertainty measures should be taken into account when setting targets and objectives for stormwater management.

Modelling urban stormwater quality: There are both deterministic and stochastic modelling for urban stormwater quality. Typically, stormwater quality models are comprised of empirical equations (e.g. modelling concentration as a function of runoff volumes) or processed based equations (for the movement of contaminants over surfaces and through pipes) (Daly et al., 2014). Key urban water quality models currently in use appear to still be models such as MUSIC, SWMM and Mike Urban (Wijesiri et al., 2016a). There are some concerns however that default stormwater pollutant generation algorithms in these models may become outdated with the implementation of source-control strategies (Lucke et al., 2018). For example, a study published in 2018 found that runoff concentrations in Queensland were significantly lower than what was previously reported and incorporated in MUSIC (Lucke et al., 2018).

Recently, there has been an increasing number of studies calling into question the validity of build-up wash-off models, especially at the catchment scale (Bonhomme and Petrucci, 2017). The urban stormwater quality that is simulated in build-up wash-off models have been found to have high levels of uncertainty (Sage et al., 2017). For example, Sage et al. (2015b) found that measured data of suspended solids build up could not be replicated by build-up models. Indeed Wijesriri et al. (2016b) also identified greater uncertainty in predictions of build-up processes compared to wash-off processes.

With increasing amounts of data available due to the development and implementation of environmental sensors, there is an opportunity for existing stormwater quality models to be validated and revised.

References

- Adyel, T. M.; Oldham, C. E.; Hipsey, M. R. (2016). Stormwater Nutrient Attenuation in a Constructed Wetland with Alternating Surface and Subsurface Flow Pathways: Event To Annual Dynamics. Water Res., 107, 66-82.
- Al-Rubaei, A. M.; Engström, M.; Viklander, M.; Blecken, G. (2016). Long-Term Hydraulic and Treatment Performance of a 19-Year Old Constructed Stormwater Wetland—Finally Maturated or in Need of Maintenance? Ecol. Eng., 95, 73-82.
- Alamdari, N., Sample, J.D., Steinberg, P., Ross, C.A., Easton, M.Z., 2017. Assessing the Effects of Climate Change on Water Quantity and Quality in an Urban Watershed Using a Calibrated Stormwater Model. Water . https://doi.org/10.3390/w9070464
- Allinson, G., Allinson, M., Myers, J., & Pettigrove, V. (2014). Use of novel rapid assessment tools for efficient monitoring of micropollutants in urban storm water (SWF Project 8OS – 8100) Final Report Graeme Allinson, (January).
- Allinson, G., Zhang, P., Bui, A. D., Allinson, M., Rose, G., Marshall, S., & Pettigrove, V. (2015). Pesticide and trace metal occurrence and aquatic benchmark exceedances in surface waters and sediments of urban wetlands and retention ponds in Melbourne, Australia. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 22(13), 10214–10226. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-4206-3
- Allinson, M., Zhang, P., Bui, A. D., Myers, J. H., Pettigrove, V., Rose, G., ... Allinson, G. (2017). Herbicides and trace metals in urban waters in Melbourne, Australia (2011–12): concentrations and potential impact. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 24(8), 7274–7284. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-8395-9
- Almeida, M.I.G.S., Silva, A.M.L., Coleman, R.A., Pettigrove, V.J., Cattrall, R.W., Kolev, S.D., 2016. Development of a passive sampler based on a polymer inclusion membrane for total ammonia monitoring in freshwaters. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 408, 3213–3222. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-016-9394-2
- Anim DO, Fletcher TD, Vietz GJ, Pasternack GB, Burns MJ. Effect of urbanization on stream hydraulics. River Res Applic. 2018;1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rra.3293</u>
- Aspray, K.L., Holden, J., Ledger, M.E., Mainstone, C.P., Brown, L.E., 2017. Organic sediment pulses impact rivers across multiple levels of ecological organization. Ecohydrology 10, e1855. https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/eco.1855
- Bell, C., McMillan, S.K., Clinton, S.M., Jefferson, A.J., (2016), Hydrologic response to stormwater control measures in urban watersheds, Journal of Hydrology, 541, 1488-1500
- Bichai, Françoise, and Nicholas Ashbolt. 2017. "Public Health and Water Quality Management in Low-Exposure Stormwater Schemes: A Critical Review of Regulatory Frameworks and Path Forward." Sustainable Cities and Society 28: 453–65. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2016.09.003.
- Bonhomme, C., Petrucci, G., 2017. Should we trust build-up/wash-off water quality models at the scale of urban catchments? Water Res. 108, 422–431. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.11.027
- Bonneau, J., Burns, M. J., Fletcher, T. D., Witt, R., Drysdale, R. N., & Costelloe, J. F. (2018). The impact of urbanization on subsurface flow paths – A paired-catchment isotopic study. Journal of Hydrology, 561(January), 413–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2018.04.022
- Burns, M.J, Fletcher T.D, Duncan, H.P, Walsh, C.J, Ladson, A.R, Hatt B.E (2012) The stormwater retention performance of rainwater tanks at the land parcel scale

- Burns, M.J, Fletcher, T.D, Walsh, C.J, Ladson, A.R, Hatt B.E (2013). Setting objectives for hydrologic restoration: from site-scale to catchment-scale, Novatech 2013
- CAPIM. (2018). Pollution Issues in the Melbourne Water Region and Options for their Management, (88).
- Carpenter, K.D., Kuivila, K.M., Hladik, M.L., Haluska, T., Cole, M.B., 2016. Storm-event-transport of urban-use pesticides to streams likely impairs invertebrate assemblages. Environ. Monit. Assess. 188, 345. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-016-5215-5
- Chambers, P.A., McGoldrick, D.J., Brua, R.B., Vis, C., Culp, J.M., Benoy, G.A., 2012. Development of Environmental Thresholds for Nitrogen and Phosphorus in Streams. J. Environ. Qual. 41, 7–20. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2010.0273
- Chandrasena, G. I., Shirdashtzadeh, M., Li, Y. L., Deletic, A., Hathaway, J. M., & McCarthy, D. T. (2017). Retention and survival of E. coli in stormwater biofilters: Role of vegetation, rhizosphere microorganisms and antimicrobial filter media. Ecological Engineering, 102, 166–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2017.02.009
- Chandrasena, G. I., Shirdashtzadeh, M., Li, Y. L., Deletic, A., Hathaway, J. M., & McCarthy, D. T. (2017). Stormwater Biofilters as Barriers against Campylobacter jejuni, Cryptosporidium Oocysts and Adenoviruses; Results from a Laboratory Trial
- Chenoweth EPLA and Bushland Restoration Services (2012) South East Queensland Ecological Restoration Framework: Guideline. Prepared on behalf of SEQ Catchments and South East Queensland Local Governments, Brisbane
- Cizmas, L., Sharma, V.K., Gray, C.M., McDonald, T.J., 2015. Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in waters: occurrence, toxicity, and risk. Environ. Chem. Lett. 13, 381–394. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-015-0524-4
- Cobbina, S.J., Chen, Y., Zhou, Z., Wu, X., Zhao, T., Zhang, Z., Feng, W., Wang, W., Li, Q., Wu, X., Yang, L., 2015. Toxicity assessment due to sub-chronic exposure to individual and mixtures of four toxic heavy metals. J. Hazard. Mater. 294, 109–120. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2015.03.057
- Coleman, R., Chee, Y. E., Bond, N., Ross Rakesh, S., and Walsh, C. J. (2018), Benefits and challenges of incorporating spatially explicit quantitative modelling and action prioritisation in Melbourne Water's healthy Waterways Strategy
- Corstanje, R.; Grafius, D.; Zawadzka, J.; Moreira Barradas, J.; Vince, G.; Ivanoff, D.; Pietro, K. (2016). A Datamining Approach To Identifying Spatial Patterns of Phosphorus Forms in the Stormwater Treatment Areas in the Everglades, US. Ecol. Eng., 97, 567-576.
- CRC for Water Sencitive Cities Industry Note (2014): Valuing stormwater management: Who is willing to pay? (Accessed September 2018, <u>https://watersensitivecities.org.au/content/crcwsc-industry-note-2014-valuing-stormwater-management-who-is-willing-to-pay/</u>)
- Criquet, J., Dumoulin, D., Howsam, M., Mondamert, L., Goossens, J.-F., Prygiel, J., Billon, G., 2017. Comparison of POCIS passive samplers vs. composite water sampling: A case study. Sci. Total Environ. 609, 982–991. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.07.227
- Croker, M.E., Walsh C.J., Bond, N.R. and Chee, Y.E. (2016), Biodiversity offsets: Why 'no net loss' is even more problematic for urban streams, In Vietz, G.J, Flatley, A.J., and Rutherford, I. D., 2016, Proceedings of the 8th Australian Stream Management Conference, 31 July 3August 2016, Leura NSW.

Dagenais, D., Brisson, J. and Fletcher, T.D., (2018) The role of plants in bioretention systems: does the science

underpin current guidance? Ecological Engineering, 120 (2018) 532-545.

- Daly, E., Bach, P.M., Deletic, A., 2014. Stormwater pollutant runoff: A stochastic approach. Adv. Water Resour. 74, 148–155. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.advwatres.2014.09.003
- Davies-Colley, R.J., Ballantine, D.J., Elliott, S.H., Swales, A., Hughes, A.O., Gall, M.P., 2014. Light attenuation a more effective basis for the management of fine suspended sediment than mass concentration? Water Sci. Technol. 69, 1867–1874.
- Davis, J.R., Koop, K., 2006. Eutrophication in Australian Rivers, Reservoirs and Estuaries A Southern Hemisphere Perspective on the Science and its Implications. Hydrobiologia 559, 23–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-005-4429-2
- de Man, H., Bouwknegt, M., van Heijnsbergen, E., Leenen, E.J.T.M., van Knapen, F., de Roda Husman, A.M., 2014. Health risk assessment for splash parks that use rainwater as source water. Water Res. 54, 254–261. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.02.010

Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (2016), Water for Victoria

Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (2018a). Issues Paper.

Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning, State Environment Protection Policy (Waters). (2018).

Design Flow. (2013a). Urban stormwater BPEM Standards Paper Addendum.

Design Flow. (2013b). Urban stormwater BPEM Standards paper DesignFlow July 2013.

- Design Flow. (2014). Modelling analysis for potential urban stormwater Standards DesignFlow October 2014, (October).
- Dietz, M. E. (2016). Modified Bioretention for Enhanced Nitrogen Removal from Agricultural Runoff. J. Environ. Eng., 142(12), 06016007.
- Duncan, HP (1999). Urban Stormwater Quality: A Statistical Overview. Cooperative Research Centre for Catchment Hydrology, In Press. Mitchell, VG (1998).
- Duncan, H.P, Fletcher, T.D., Vietz, G, Urrutiaguer, M. (2014). The feasibility of maintaining ecologically and geomorphically important elements of the natural flow regime in the context of a superabundance of flow: Stage 1 Kororoit Creek study.
- Duncan, H.P, Fletcher, T.D., Vietz, G (2014), The feasibility of maintaining ecologically and geomorphically important elements of the natural flow regime in the context of a superabundance of flow
- Eckart, Kyle, Zach McPhee, and Tirupati Bolisetti. 2017. "Performance and Implementation of Low Impact Development A Review." Science of The Total Environment 607–608: 413–32. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.06.254.
- Egodawatta, P., Ziyath, A.M., Goonetilleke, A., 2013. Characterising metal build-up on urban road surfaces. Environ. Pollut. 176, 87–91. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2013.01.021
- EPA Victoria. (n.d.). Urban stormwater knowledge review report final.
- Emily G. I. Payne , Tim D. Fletcher , Perran L. M. Cook , Ana Deletic & Belinda E. Hatt (2014) Processes and Drivers of Nitrogen Removal in Stormwater Biofiltration, Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology, 44:7, 796-846, DOI: 10.1080/10643389.2012.741310

- Fabbri, E., Franzellitti, S., 2016. Human pharmaceuticals in the marine environment: Focus on exposure and biological effects in animal species. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 35, 799–812. https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/etc.3131
- Fletcher, T. D., Andrieu, H., & Hamel, P. (2013). Understanding, management and modelling of urban hydrology and its consequences for receiving waters: a state of the art. Advances in Water Resources, 51, 261 - 279. DOI: 10.1016/j.advwatres.2012.09.001
- Fletcher, T.D., Walsh, C.J., and Vietz, G., (2014) Protection of stream ecosystems from urban stormwater runoff : The multiple benefits of an ecohydrological approach
- Fletcher, T.D et al (2015) SUDS, LID, BMPs, WSUD and more The evolution and application of terminology surrounding urban drainage, Urban Water Journal, 12:7, 525-542, DOI: 10.1080/1573062X.2014.916314
- Gardiner (2010) Do rainwater tanks herald a cultural change in household water use?, Australasian Journal of Environmental Management, 17:2, 100-111, DOI: 10.1080/14486563.2010.9725255
- Garner, E., Benitez, R., von Wagoner, E., Sawyer, R., Schaberg, E., Hession, W.C., Krometis, L.-A.H., Badgley, B.D., Pruden, A., 2017. Stormwater loadings of antibiotic resistance genes in an urban stream. Water Res. 123, 144–152. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.06.046
- Gasperi, J., Sebastian, C., Ruban, V., Delamain, M., Percot, S., Wiest, L., Gromaire, M. C. (2014). Micropollutants in urban stormwater: Occurrence, concentrations, and atmospheric contributions for a wide range of contaminants in three French catchments. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 21(8), 5267–5281. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-2396-0
- Gernjak, W., Lampard, J.-L., Tang, J., 2016. CRCWSC Stormwater Database, Melbourne Australia: Cooperative Research Centre for Water Sensitive Cities [WWW Document]. URL https://watersensitivecities.org.au/content/crcwscstormwater-database/
- Gilbreath, A.N., McKee, L.J., 2015. Concentrations and loads of PCBs, dioxins, PAHs, PBDEs, OC Pesticides and Pyrethroids during Storm and Low Flow Conditions in a Small Urban Semi-Arid Watershed. Sci. Total Environ. 526, 251–261. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.04.052
- Glaister, B., Fletcher, T. D., Cook, P., & Hatt, B. E. (2014). Co-optimisation of phosphorus and nitrogen removal in stormwater biofilters: The role of filter media, vegetation and saturated zone. Water Science and Technology, 69(9), 1961 1969. DOI: 10.2166/wst.2014.117
- Grose et al (2015) Seasonal and regional signature of the projected southern Australian rainfall reduction
- Harmel, R.D., Hathaway, J.M., Wagner, K.L., Wolfe, J.E., Karthikeyan, R., Francesconi, W., McCarthy, D.T., 2016. Uncertainty in monitoring E. coli concentrations in streams and stormwater runoff. J. Hydrol. 534, 524–533. <u>https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2016.01.040</u>
- Harmel, R.D., King, K., Busch, D., Smith, D., Birgand, F., Haggard, B., 2018. Measuring edge-of-field water quality: Where we have been and the path forward. J. Soil Water Conserv. 73, 86–96.
- Hathaway, J.M., Brown, R.A., Fu, J.S., Hunt, W.F., 2014. Bioretention function under climate change scenarios in North Carolina, USA. J. Hydrol. 519, 503–511. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2014.07.037
- Hatt, B.E., Fletcher, T.D., Walsh., C.J., Taylor, S. (2004). The Influence of Urban Density and Drainage Infrastructure on the Concentrations and Loads of Pollutants in Small Streams. Environmental management. 34. 112-24. 10.1007/s00267-004-0221-8.
- Hatt, B.E., Fletcher, T.D and Deletic, A, Hydrologic and pollutant removal performance of stormwater biofiltration

systems at the field scale, Journal of Hydrology Volume 365, Issues 3-4, 25 February 2009, Pages 310-321

Healthy Land and Water. (2017). South East Queensland Report Card 2017.

- Healthy Land and Water. (2018a). Environmental Condition Grade. Retrieved August 15, 2018, from http://hlw.org.au/report-card/report-card-methods/environmental-condition-grade
- Healthy Land and Water. (2018b). Waterways Benefits Rating. Retrieved August 15, 2018, from http://hlw.org.au/report-card/report-card-methods/waterways-benefits-rating
- Helen, G., Jenny, H., Kerstin, N., Camilla, W., Godecke-Tobias, B., Jiri, M., Maria, V., 2016. Inter-Event and Intra-Event Variations of Indicator Bacteria Concentrations in the Storm Sewer System of the City of Östersund, Sweden. J. Environ. Eng. 142, 6016003. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)EE.1943-7870.0001067
- Henry, R., Schang, C., Chandrasena, G.I., Deletic, A., Edmunds, M., Jovanovic, D., Kolotelo, P., Schmidt, J., Williamson, R., McCarthy, D., 2015. Environmental monitoring of waterborne Campylobacter: evaluation of the Australian standard and a hybrid extraction-free MPN-PCR method. Front. Microbiol. 6, 74.
- Henry, R., Schang, C., Coutts, S., Kolotelo, P., Prosser, T., Crosbie, N., Grant, T., Cottam, D., O'Brien, P., Deletic, A., McCarthy, D., 2016. Into the deep: Evaluation of SourceTracker for assessment of faecal contamination of coastal waters. Water Res. 93, 242–253.
- Hobbs, R.J, Salvatore Arico, James Aronson, Jill S. Baron, Peter Bridgewater, Viki A. Cramer, Paul R. Epstein, John J. Ewel, Carlos A. Klink, Ariel E. Lugo, David Norton, Dennis Ojima, David M. Richardson, Eric W. Sanderson, Fernando Valladares, Montserrat Vilà, Regino Zamora, and Martin Zobel, Novel ecosystems: theoretical and management aspects of the new ecological world order. Global Ecology and Biogeography, (Global Ecol. Biogeogr.) (2006) 15, 1–7
- Hobbs, R.J, and Norton, D. (1996) Towards a Conceptual Framework for Restoration Ecology. Restoration Ecology Volume 4, Issue 2 June 1996 Pages 93-110
- Hoghooghi, Nahal, Heather Golden, Brian Bledsoe, Bradley Barnhart, Allen Brookes, Kevin Djang, Jonathan Halama, Robert McKane, Christopher Nietch, and Paul Pettus. 2018. "Cumulative Effects of Low Impact Development on Watershed Hydrology in a Mixed Land-Cover System." Water . https://doi.org/10.3390/w10080991.
- Horne, A.C., Morris, C.R., Fowler, K.J.A., Costelloe, J.F., Fletcher, T.D, Management Options to Address Diffuse Causes of Hydrologic Alteration Water for the Environment from Policy and Science to Implementation and Management 2017, Pages 453-481
- Hutchins, M.G., McGrane, S.J., Miller, J.D., Hagen-Zanker, A., Kjeldsen, T.R., Dadson, S.J., Rowland, C.S., 2016. Integrated modeling in urban hydrology: reviewing the role of monitoring technology in overcoming the issue of "big data" requirements. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Water 4, e1177. https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/wat2.1177
- Jeppe, K. J., Kellar, C. R., Marshall, S., Colombo, V., Sinclair, G. M., & Pettigrove, V. (2017). Bifenthrin Causes Toxicity in Urban Stormwater Wetlands: Field and Laboratory Assessment Using Austrochiltonia (Amphipoda). Environmental Science and Technology, 51(12), 7254–7262. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b01472
- Jiang, S., Noble, R., Chu, W., 2001. Human Adenoviruses and Coliphages in Urban Runoff-Impacted Coastal Waters of Southern California. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67, 179–184.
- Jiang, S.C., Lim, K.-Y., Huang, X., McCarthy, D., Hamilton, A.J., 2015. Human and environmental health risks and benefits associated with use of urban stormwater. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Water 2, 683–699.

https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/wat2.1107

- Jones N, Ross, H, Shaw S, Witt K, Pinner, B, Rissik, D, (2016) Values towards waterways in south east Queensland: Why people care Marine Policy Volume 71, September 2016, Pages 121-131
- Jones, A.S., Aanderud, Z.T., Horsburgh, J.S., Eiriksson, D.P., Dastrup, D., Cox, C., Jones, S.B., Bowling, D.R., Carlisle, J., Carling, G.T., Baker, M.A., 2017. Designing and Implementing a Network for Sensing Water Quality and Hydrology across Mountain to Urban Transitions. JAWRA J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 53, 1095–1120. https://doi.org/doi:10.1111/1752-1688.12557
- Joyce, A.S., Pirogovsky, M.S., Adams, R.G., Lao, W., Tsukada, D., Cash, C.L., Haw, J.F., Maruya, K.A., 2015. Using performance reference compound-corrected polyethylene passive samplers and caged bivalves to measure hydrophobic contaminants of concern in urban coastal seawaters. Chemosphere 127, 10–17. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.12.067

Kadlec, R. H. (2016). Large Constructed Wetlands for Phosphorus Control: A Review. Water, 8(6).

- Kennard, M. J., Pusey, B. J., Olden, J. D., MacKay, S. J., Stein, J. L., & Marsh, N. (2010). Classification of natural flow regimes in Australia to support environmental flow management. Freshwater Biology, 55(1), 171–193. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02307.x
- Koch, B. J., Febria, C. M., Gevrey, M., Wainger, L. A., & Palmer, M. A. (2014). Nitrogen Removal by Stormwater Management Structures: A Data Synthesis. Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 50(6), 1594–1607. https://doi.org/10.1111/jawr.12223
- Krause, S., Lewandowski, J., Dahm, C.N., Tockner, K., 2015. Frontiers in real-time ecohydrology a paradigm shift in understanding complex environmental systems. Ecohydrology 8, 529–537. https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/eco.1646
- Lambrou, T.P., Anastasiou, C.C., Panayiotou, C.G., Polycarpou, M.M., 2014. A Low-Cost Sensor Network for Real-Time Monitoring and Contamination Detection in Drinking Water Distribution Systems. IEEE Sens. J. 14, 2765–2772. https://doi.org/10.1109/JSEN.2014.2316414
- Lee, J.H., An, K.-G., 2014. Integrative restoration assessment of an urban stream using multiple modeling approaches with physical, chemical, and biological integrity indicators. Ecol. Eng. 62, 153–167. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2013.10.006
- Li, C., Fletcher, T. D., Duncan, H. P., & Burns, M. J. (2017). Can stormwater control measures restore altered urban flow regimes at the catchment scale? Journal of Hydrology, 549, 631–653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2017.03.037
- Lim, K.-Y., Hamilton, A.J., Jiang, S.C., 2015. Assessment of public health risk associated with viral contamination in harvested urban stormwater for domestic applications. Sci. Total Environ. 523, 95–108. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.03.077
- Lim, H.S., Lu, X.X., 2016. Sustainable urban stormwater management in the tropics: An evaluation of Singapore's ABC Waters Program. J. Hydrol. 538, 842–862. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2016.04.063
- Loperfido, J.V., Noe, G.B, Jarnagin, S.T. and Hogan, D.M., (2014), Effects of distributed and centralized stormwater best management practices and land cover on urban stream hydrology at the catchment scale, Journal of Hydrology, 519, 2584-2595.
- López-Doval, J.C., Montagner, C.C., de Alburquerque, A.F., Moschini-Carlos, V., Umbuzeiro, G., Pompêo, M., 2017. Nutrients, emerging pollutants and pesticides in a tropical urban reservoir: Spatial distributions and risk assessment. Sci. Total Environ. 575, 1307–1324.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.210

- Lucke, T., Drapper, D., Hornbuckle, A., 2018. Urban stormwater characterisation and nitrogen composition from lot-scale catchments New management implications. Sci. Total Environ. 619–620, 65–71. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.105
- Ma, Y., Egodawatta, P., McGree, J., Liu, A., Goonetilleke, A., 2016. Human health risk assessment of heavy metals in urban stormwater. Sci. Total Environ. 557–558, 764–772. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.067

Mackintosh, T.J., Davies, J.A. and Thompson, R.M., (2017), The effects of urbanisation on trophic relationships in constructed wetlands, Freshwater Science, 2017, 36(1): 138-150.

- Maret, T.R., Konrad, C.P., Tranmer, A.W., 2010. Influence of Environmental Factors on Biotic Responses to Nutrient Enrichment in Agricultural Streams. J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 46, 498–513. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2010.00430.x
- McCarthy, D.T, (2017), Epidemiological evidence between water quality measures and illnesses in bathers of marine waters
- McCarthy, D., Harmel, D., 2014. Quality assurance/quality control in stormwater sampling, in: Quality Assurance & Quality Control of Environmental Field Sampling, Future Science Book Series. Future Science Ltd, pp. 98–127. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.4155/ebo.13.475</u>
- McDonald, W., Dymond, R., Lohani, V., 2018. Evaluation of Continuous Monitoring as a Tool for Municipal Stormwater Management Programs. J. Sustain. Water Built Environ. 4, 4017016. https://doi.org/10.1061/JSWBAY.0000842
- McIntosh, B.S., Aryal, S., Ashbolt, S., Sheldon, F., Maheepala, S., Gardner, T., Chowdhury, R., Gardiner, R., Hartcher, M., Pagendam, D., Hodgson, G., Hodgen, M. and Pelzer, L. (2013). Urbanisation and Stormwater Management in South East Queensland – Synthesis and Recommendations. Urban Water Security Research Alliance Technical Report No. 106.
- McIntyre, J.K., Edmunds, R.C., Redig, M.G., Mudrock, E.M., Davis, J.W., Incardona, J.P., Stark, J.D., Scholz, N.L., 2016. Confirmation of Stormwater Bioretention Treatment Effectiveness Using Molecular Indicators of Cardiovascular Toxicity in Developing Fish. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 1561–1569. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b04786
- Melbourne Water. (2006). Environmental Flow Determination for the Maribyrnong River Final Recommendations Maribyrnong River, (July).

Melbourne Water(2017), Living Rivers WSUA Asset Audit

Melbourne Water. (2018). Draft Healthy Waterways Strategy.

- Miller, K. A., Casas-Mulet, R., de Little, S. C., Stewardson, M. J., Koster, W. M., & Webb, J. A. (2018). Deficiencies in our understanding of the hydro-ecology of several native Australian fish: a rapid evidence synthesis. Marine and Freshwater Research. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF17241
- Moglia, M., Tjandraatmadja, G., Delbridge, N., Gulizia, E., Ak, S., Butler, R., & Gan, K. (2014). Survey of savings and conditions of rainwater tanks. CSIRO Journal, 4(September), 1127–1129. Retrieved from http://www.ebscohost.com
- Mokarizadeh, A., Faryabi, M.R., Rezvanfar, M.A., Abdollahi, M., 2015. A comprehensive review of pesticides and the immune dysregulation: mechanisms, evidence and consequences. Toxicol. Mech. Methods 25, 258–

278. https://doi.org/10.3109/15376516.2015.1020182

- Moore, T.L.,Rodak, C.M., Vogel, J.R., (2017), Urban Stormwater Characterization, Control, and Treatment. Water Environment Research, Volume 89, Number 10
- Murphy, H.M., Meng, Z., Henry, R., Deletic, A., McCarthy, D.T., 2017. Current Stormwater Harvesting Guidelines Are Inadequate for Mitigating Risk from Campylobacter During Nonpotable Reuse Activities. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 12498–12507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b03089</u>
- Muschalla, D., Vallet, B., Anctil, F., Lessard, P., Pelletier, G., Vanrolleghem, P.A., (2014). Ecohydraulic-driven real-time control of stormwater basins. J. Hydrol. 511, 82–91. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2014.01.002
- Myers, B., Chacko, P., Tjandraatmadja, G., Cook, S., Umapathi, S., Pezzanitti, D., Sharma, A.K., (2013), The status of Water Sensitive Urban Design in South Australia, Goyder Institute for Water Research Technical Report Series No. 13/11, Adelaide, South Australia
- Najafi, R., Hessami Kermani, M.R., 2017. Uncertainty Modeling of Statistical Downscaling to Assess Climate Change Impacts on Temperature and Precipitation. Water Resour. Manag. 31, 1843–1858. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11269-017-1615-8
- Ng, C.-L., Koay, T.-B., Senft-Grupp, S., Chitre, M., Hemond, H.F., (2015). In situ real-time optical sensing device for three-dimensional water chemistry surveillance. Water Pract. Technol. 10, 836–845.
- Nichols, P., Lucke, T., Drapper, D., & Walker, C. (2016). Performance evaluation of a floating treatment wetland in an urban catchment. Water (Switzerland), 8(6), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3390/W8060244
- Ouyang, Y., Parajuli, P.B., Feng, G., Leininger, T.D., Wan, Y., Dash, P., 2018. Application of Climate Assessment Tool (CAT) to estimate climate variability impacts on nutrient loading from local watersheds. J. Hydrol. 563, 363–371. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2018.06.017
- Paerl, H.W., Scott, J.T., McCarthy, M.J., Newell, S.E., Gardner, W.S., Havens, K.E., Hoffman, D.K., Wilhelm, S.W., Wurtsbaugh, W.A., 2016. It Takes Two to Tango: When and Where Dual Nutrient (N & P) Reductions Are Needed to Protect Lakes and Downstream Ecosystems. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 10805–10813. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b02575
- Paerl, H.W., Xu, H., Hall, N.S., Rossignol, K.L., Joyner, A.R., Zhu, G., Qin, B., 2015. Nutrient limitation dynamics examined on a multi-annual scale in Lake Taihu, China: implications for controlling eutrophication and harmful algal blooms. J. Freshw. Ecol. 30, 5–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/02705060.2014.994047
- Palla, A. and Gnecco, I., 2015, Hydrologic modelling of low impact development systems at the urban catchment scale, Journal of Hydrology, 528 (2015) 361-368.
- Parker, Nathaniel Ryan (2010) Assessing the effectiveness of water sensitive urban design in Southeast Queensland. Masters by Research thesis, Queensland University of Technology.
- Pellerin, B.A., Stauffer, B.A., Young, D.A., Sullivan, D.J., Bricker, S.B., Walbridge, M.R., Clyde, G.A., Shaw, D.M., 2016. Emerging Tools for Continuous Nutrient Monitoring Networks: Sensors Advancing Science and Water Resources Protection. JAWRA J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 52, 993–1008. https://doi.org/doi:10.1111/1752-1688.12386
- Petrucci, G., José-Frédéric Deroubaix, Bernard de Gouvello, Jean-Claude Deutsch, Philippe Bompard & Bruno Tassin (2012) Rainwater harvesting to control stormwater runoff in suburban areas. An experimental casestudy, Urban Water Journal, 9:1, 45-55, DOI: 10.1080/1573062X.2011.633610

Pettigrove, V, (2018), Pollution Issues in the Melbourne Water Region and Options for their Management

- Rippy, M. A., Deletic, A., Black, J., Aryal, R., Lampard, J. L., Tang, J. Y. M., ... Gernjak, W. (2017). Pesticide occurrence and spatio-temporal variability in urban run-off across Australia. Water Research, 115, 245–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.03.010
- Roy, A.H., Wenger, S.J., Fletcher, T.D. et al. Environmental Management (2008) 42: 344. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-008-9119-1
- Rutherfurd, I.D., K. Jerie and N. Marsh (2000), A Rehabilitation Manual for Australian Streams
- Sage, J., Bonhomme, C., Al Ali, S., Gromaire, M.-C., 2015b. Performance assessment of a commonly used "accumulation and wash-off" model from long-term continuous road runoff turbidity measurements. Water Res. 78, 47–59. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.03.030
- Sage, J., Bonhomme, C., Berthier, E., Gromaire, M.-C., 2017. Assessing the Effect of Uncertainties in Pollutant Wash-Off Dynamics in Stormwater Source-Control Systems Modeling: Consequences of Using an Inappropriate Error Model. J. Environ. Eng. 143, 4016077. <u>https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)EE.1943-7870.0001163</u>
- Sage, Jérémie, Emmanuel Berthier, and Marie-Christine Gromaire. 2015. "Stormwater Management Criteria for On-Site Pollution Control: A Comparative Assessment of International Practices." Environmental Management 56 (1): 66–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-015-0485-1.
- Saft, M., Peel, M. C., Western, A. W., Perraud, J. M., & Zhang, L. (2016). Bias in streamflow projections due to climate-induced shifts in catchment response. Geophysical Research Letters, 43(4), 1574–1581. https://doi.org/10.1002/2015GL067326
- Saft, M., Western, A. W., Zhang, L., Peel, M. C., & Potter, N. J. (2015). The influence of multiyear drought on the annual rainfall-runoff relationship: An Australian perspective. Water Resources Research, (51), 2444–2463. https://doi.org/10.1002/2015WR017408.Received
- Sage, J., Berthier, E., Gromaire, M.-C., 2015a. Stormwater Management Criteria for On-Site Pollution Control: A Comparative Assessment of International Practices. Environ. Manage. 56, 66–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-015-0485-1</u>
- Schoen, Mary E, Nicholas J Ashbolt, Michael A Jahne, and Jay Garland. 2017. "Risk-Based Enteric Pathogen Reduction Targets for Non-Potable and Direct Potable Use of Roof Runoff, Stormwater, and Greywater." Microbial Risk Analysis 5: 32–43. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.2017.01.002.
- Selbig, W.R., 2016. Evaluation of leaf removal as a means to reduce nutrient concentrations and loads in urban stormwater. Sci. Total Environ. 571, 124–133. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.07.003
- Sharvelle, S.; Ashbolt, N.; Clerico, E.; Hultquist, R.; Leverenz, H.; and A. Olivieri. (2017). Risk-Based Framework for the Development of Public Health Guidance for Decentralized Non-Potable Water Systems. Prepared by the National Water Research Institute for the Water Environment & Reuse Foundation. Alexandria, VA. WE&RF Project No. SIWM10C15.
- Sidhu, J., Gernjak, W., & Toze, S. (2012). Health Risk Assessment of Urban Stormwater Edited by : Urban Water Security Research Alliance Technical Report No . 102, (102).
- Sidhu, J. P. S., Ahmed, W., Gernjak, W., Aryal, R., McCarthy, D., Palmer, A., ... Toze, S. (2013). Sewage pollution in urban stormwater runoff as evident from the widespread presence of multiple microbial and chemical source tracking markers. Science of the Total Environment, 463–464, 488–496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.06.020

- Sinclair, M., Gibney, K., Leder, K., 2015. Evolution of regulatory targets for drinking water quality. J. Water Health 13, 413–426. <u>https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.2166/wh.2014.242</u>
- Soller, J., Bartrand, T., Ravenscroft, J., Molina, M., Whelan, G., Schoen, M., Ashbolt, N., 2015. Estimated human health risks from recreational exposures to stormwater runoff containing animal faecal material. Environ. Model. Softw. 72, 21–32. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2015.05.018
- Spromberg, J.A, (2015) Coho salmon spawner mortality in western US urban watersheds: bioinfiltration prevents lethal storm water impacts, Journal of Applied Ecology, October 2015
- Stewardson, M. J., & Guarino, F. (2018). Basin-scale environmental water delivery in the Murray-Darling, Australia: A hydrological perspective. Freshwater Biology, (March). https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.13102
- Stewardson, M. J., Webb, J. A., & Horne, A. (2017). Environmental Flows and Eco-Hydrological Assessments in Rivers. Decision Making in Water Resources Policy and Management, (February 2018), 113–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-810523-8.00008-2

Sunbury stuff from Tony. (n.d.). Workshop 1_Sunbury Metrics.

Tang, J. Y. M., Aryal, R., Deletic, A., Gernjak, W., Glenn, E., McCarthy, D., & Escher, B. I. (2013). Toxicity characterization of urban stormwater with bioanalytical tools. Water Research, 47(15), 5594–5606. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.06.037</u>

Tare et al,. (2013), Environmental Flows for Kumbh 2013 at Triveni Sangam, Allahabad

- Tariq, A., Lempert, R.J., Riverson, J., Schwartz, M., Berg, N., 2017. A climate stress test of Los Angeles' water quality plans. Clim. Change 144, 625–639. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-017-2062-5
- Timm, C., Luther, S., Jurzik, L., Hamza, I. A., & Kistemann, T. (2016). Applying QMRA and DALY to assess health risks from river bathing. International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, 219(7), 681–692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2016.07.017
- Tippler, Carl & A. Wright, Ian & Davies, Peter & R. Evans, Claire. (2018). Are Odonata nymph adversely affected by impaired water quality in urban streams. Austral Ecology. 10.1111/aec.12630.
- Urrutiaguer, M., Danger, A., Coleman, R., Kitson, L., Edwards, C., Prosser, T., & Gaskill, S. (2016). Management of the ecological impacts of urban land and activities on waterways Issues Paper : understanding the science.
- Vietz, G., Stewardson, M., Walsh, C., & Fletcher, T. (2012). Another reason urban streams are stuffed : geomorphic history, challenges and opportunities. Proceedings of the 6th Australian Stream Management Conference, (January), 1–7.
- Vietz, G., Tippler, C., Russell, K., Kermode, S., Sterren, M., Fletcher, T., Dean, M (2018) Development and application of the Urban Streamflow Impact Assessment (USIA) to inform stream protection and rehabilitation
- Visser, P.M., Verspagen, J.M.H., Sandrini, G., Stal, L.J., Matthijs, H.C.P., Davis, T.W., Paerl, H.W., Huisman, J., 2016. How rising CO2 and global warming may stimulate harmful cyanobacterial blooms. Harmful Algae 54, 145–159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hal.2015.12.006</u>
- Vymazal, J.; Březinová, T. (2016). Accumulation of Heavy Metals in Aboveground Biomass of Phragmites Australis in Horizontal Flow Constructed Wetlands for Wastewater Treatment: A Review. Chem. Eng. J., 290, 232-242

- Walaszek, M., Bois, P., Laurent, J., Lenormand, E., Wanko, A., 2018a. Micropollutants removal and storage efficiencies in urban stormwater constructed wetland. Sci. Total Environ. 645, 854–864. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.07.156
- Walaszek, M., Bois, P., Laurent, J., Lenormand, E., Wanko, A., 2018b. Urban stormwater treatment by a constructed wetland: Seasonality impacts on hydraulic efficiency, physico-chemical behavior and heavy metal occurrence. Sci. Total Environ. 637–638, 443–454. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.325
- Walsh, C. J. and Kunapo, J (2009). The importance of upland flow paths in determining urban effects on stream ecosystems, Second Symposium on Urbanization and Stream Ecology, Freshwater Science Volume 28, Number 4 December 2009, The University of Chicago Press
- Walsh, C. J., Fletcher, T. D., & Burns, M. J. (2012). Urban Stormwater Runoff: A New Class of Environmental Flow Problem. PLoS ONE, 7(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0045814
- Walsh, C. J., Roy, A. H., Feminella, J. W., Cottingham, P. D., Groffman, P. M., Ii, R. P. M., & Ii, R. A. P. M. O. (2005). The urban stream syndrome : current knowledge and the search for a cure Source : Journal of the North American Benthological Society, Vol. 24, No. 3 (Sep., 2005), Published by : The University of Chicago Press on behalf of the Society for Freshwate, 24(3), 706–723.
- Walsh, C.J., Fletcher, T.D., Bos, D.G., and Imberger, S.J., Restoring a stream through retention of urban stormwater runoff: a catchment-scale experiment in a social–ecological system, Freshwater science, Volume 34, Number 3, September 2015
- Walsh, C. J., & Webb, J. A. (2016). Interactive effects of urban stormwater drainage, land clearance, and flow regime on stream macroinvertebrate assemblages across a large metropolitan region. Freshwater Science, 35 (March 2016), 324–339. https://doi.org/10.1086/685105.
- Walsh, C.J., Booth, D.B., Burns, M.J., Fletcher, T.D., Hale, R.L., Hoang, L.N., Livingston, G., Rippy, M.A., Roy, A.H., Scoggins, M. and Wallace, A. (2016). Principles for urban stormwater management to protect stream ecosystems. Freshwater Science, 35, 398–411.
- Wang, J., Nathan, R., Horne, A., Peel, M.C., Wei, Y., Langford, J., 2017. Evaluating four downscaling methods for assessment of climate change impact on ecological indicators. Environ. Model. Softw. 96, 68–82. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2017.06.016
- Watkins, S., Considine, R., Baker, H., 2017, Enhancing our Dandenong Creek An alternative Approach for Achieving Best Community Outcomes, paper submitted to OzWater17, Australian Water Association, accessed at <u>www.awa.asn.au</u>
- WERF. (2017). Risk-Based Framework for the Development of Public Health Guidance for Decentralized Non-Potable Water Systems.
- Weston, D. P., Chen, D., & Lydy, M. J. (2015). Stormwater-related transport of the insecticides bifenthrin, fipronil, imidacloprid, and chlorpyrifos into a tidal wetland, San Francisco Bay, California. Science of the Total Environment, 527–528, 18–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.04.095</u>
- Wijesiri, B., Egodawatta, P., McGree, J., Goonetilleke, A., 2016a. Influence of uncertainty inherent to heavy metal build-up and wash-off on stormwater quality. Water Res. 91, 264–276. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.01.028</u>
- Wijesiri, B., Egodawatta, P., McGree, J., Goonetilleke, A., 2016b. Assessing uncertainty in stormwater quality modelling. Water Res. 103, 10–20. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.07.011

- Winston, R.J., Dorsey, J.D and Hunt, W.F., Quantifying volume reduction and peak flow mitigation for three bioretention cells in clay soils in northeast Ohio, Sci Total Environ. 2016 May 15;553:83-95. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.02.081. Epub 2016 Feb 21.
- Wong, B.P., Kerkez, B., 2016. Adaptive measurements of urban runoff quality. Water Resour. Res. 52, 8986– 9000. https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/2015WR018013
- Wong T.H.F., Allen R., Brown R.R., Deletić A., Gangadharan L., Gernjak W., Jakob C., Johnstone P., Reeder M., Tapper N., Vietz, G. and Walsh C.J. (2013) blueprint2013 – Stormwater Management in a Water Sensitive City. Melbourne, Australia: Cooperative Research Centre for Water Sensitive Cities, ISBN 978-1-921912-02-3, July 2013. Wu, J., Lu, J., Lu, H., Lin, Y., & Chris Wilson, P. (2015). Occurrence and ecological risks from fipronil in aquatic environments located within residential landscapes. Science of the Total Environment, 518–519, 139–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.12.103
- Wu, X., Cobbina, S.J., Mao, G., Xu, H., Zhang, Z., Yang, L., 2016. A review of toxicity and mechanisms of individual and mixtures of heavy metals in the environment. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 23, 8244–8259. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-6333-x
- Xu, D.W., Fletcher, D.T., Duncan, P.H., Bergmann, J.D., Breman, J., Burns, J.M., 2018. Improving the Multi-Objective Performance of Rainwater Harvesting Systems Using Real-Time Control Technology. Water . <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w10020147</u>
- Xu, J.; Lo, S. L.; Xu, L. (2016). Removal of Pollutants During Storm and Non-Storm Events by Two Wetlands. Desal. Water Treat., 57(22), 10391-10402.
- Yang, Y.-Y., Lusk, M.G., 2018. Nutrients in Urban Stormwater Runoff: Current State of the Science and Potential Mitigation Options. Curr. Pollut. Reports 4, 112–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40726-018-0087-7</u>
- Yan, J., Wang, L., Fu, P.P., Yu, H., 2004. Photomutagenicity of 16 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from the US EPA priority pollutant list. Mutat. Res. 557, 99–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2003.10.004
- Yau, W.K., Radhakrishnan, M., Lion, S-Y., Zevenbergen, C. and Pathirana, A., 2017, Effectiveness of ABC Waters Design Features for runoff quantity control in urban Singapore, Water 20147, 9, 577,.
- You, L., Nguyen, V.T., Pal, A., Chen, H., He, Y., Reinhard, M., Gin, K.Y.-H., 2015. Investigation of pharmaceuticals, personal care products and endocrine disrupting chemicals in a tropical urban catchment and the influence of environmental factors. Sci. Total Environ. 536, 955–963. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.06.041
- Young, A., Kochenkov, V., McIntyre, J.K., Stark, J.D., Coffin, A.B., 2018. Urban stormwater runoff negatively impacts lateral line development in larval zebrafish and salmon embryos. Sci. Rep. 8, 2830. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-21209-z</u>
- Zahra, Z., J., B.S., Mohammad, K., Hassan, T.-D., Erfan, G., 2015. Low-Impact Development Practices to Mitigate Climate Change Effects on Urban Stormwater Runoff: Case Study of New York City. J. Irrig. Drain. Eng. 141, 4014043. <u>https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)IR.1943-4774.0000770</u>
- Zhao, Hongtao, Changliang Zou, Jiang Zhao, and Xuyong Li. 2018. "Role of Low-Impact Development in Generation and Control of Urban Diffuse Pollution in a Pilot Sponge City: A Paired-Catchment Study." Water . https://doi.org/10.3390/w10070852.





Cooperative Research Centre for Water Sensitive Cities

Level 1, 8 Scenic Boulevard Monash University Clayton VIC 3800

0



info@crcwsc.org.au



www.watersensitivecities.org.au





Interpreter Services For languages other than English, please call 03 9209 0147

epa.vic.gov.au

Environment Protection Authority Victoria GPO Box 4395, Melbourne VIC 3001 1300 372 842



